

# UNIVERSITÀ DI PISA

# DIPARTIMENTO DI MATEMATICA

Laurea Triennale in Matematica

# Moduli spaces and Grassmannians

Relatore: Prof. Talpo Mattia

Candidato: Sorce Francesco

ANNO ACCADEMICO 2023/2024

# Contents

#### Introduction

1		duli Spaces Vanada lamma	1
	1.1	Moduli problema	1
	1.2	Zariali sheaves and gluing of fine moduli spaces	0 - A
	1.5	1.3.1 Zariski sheaves and gruing of the moduli spaces	4
		1.3.1 Zaliski sileaves	45
		1.3.2       Open cover of a motuli problem         1.3.3       Representability criterion	$\frac{5}{7}$
2	Gra	assmannians as projective varieties	9
	2.1	First definitions and conventions	9
	2.2	The Plücker embedding	10
		2.2.1 Matrix form	12
	2.3	The image of the Plücker embedding is closed	13
		2.3.1 Some linear algebra results	13
		2.3.2 Rank condition for the image	14
3	Rep	presentability of the Grassmannian functor	6
	3.1	Grassmannians as projective schemes	16
		3.1.1 Standard affine cover of the Grassmannian scheme	۱7
	3.2	Grassmannian moduli problem	20
		3.2.1 Open subfunctor cover of the Grassmannian	20
		3.2.2 Representability of the Grassmannian functor	22
4	Que	ot and Hilbert schemes 2	26
	4.1	Functor of quotients	26
		4.1.1 Stratification by Hilbert polynomials	27
		4.1.2 Special cases of the functor of quotients	28
	4.2	Castelnuovo-Mumford regularity and Flattening stratification	<u>29</u>
	4.3	The existence theorem	31
			าก

ii

# Introduction

The following type of *classification problem* occurs often in math:

Consider some type of object and a notion of isomorphism which can be defined between them. We are interested in understanding the behavior of isomorphism classes and how they relate to each other.

The set or class of isomorphism classes is a tautological answer to the set-theoretic question, but for an answer to a classification problem to be satisfactory we usually require it to encode some information on *families* of isomorphism classes.

Miraculously, many such classification problems turn out to have a natural answer in the form of some geometric object. In general the object can only be defined as the category of families together with some geometric structure (this is the realm of the theory of stacks), but in more special circumstances one can find a more concrete space, usually a scheme, whose points represent isomorphism classes for our problem and whose geometric structure encodes information on the families. Such objects are called *moduli spaces* for the classification problem.

The best result we can hope for is finding a space which completely encodes how families behave<sup>1</sup>, but this requirement is usually too strict. In this document we mostly deal with problems for which such a nice space exists: the Grassmannian, Quot and Hilbert schemes.

## Historical background

The history of moduli theory aligns remarkably well with that of the moduli space of smooth curves of fixed genus. Indeed the word moduli was introduced by Riemann in the article [Rie57] to denote what we would now call the dimension of  $M_g$ , the moduli space of smooth projective algebraic curves of genus g, which he computed to be 3g - 3.

Although the argument given by Riemann can be made rigorous in modern language, he did not prove the existence of the space  $M_g$  itself. The first general construction of  $M_g$  as a space of some kind can be attributed to Teichmüller, which realized  $M_g$  as the quotient of the Teichmüller space  $T_g$  parametrizing complex structures up to isomorphism on a surface of genus g by the action of the group  $\Gamma_g$  of diffeomorphisms of the surface up to isotopy. The paper which establishes these ideas is [Tei39].

The basis for the modern theory were laid by Alexander Grothendieck and his functorial approach. He first introduced his methods to analytic moduli theory and later on to algebraic geometry in general. Grothendieck was very interested in algebraic moduli theory and contributed to it greatly by introducing the Hilbert, Quot and Picard functors and showing their representability by schemes. However, Grothendieck did not end up publishing on  $M_g$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>what will be formalized as a fine moduli space

Among the first to study moduli spaces systematically was David Mumford. Inspired by invariant theory, Grothendieck's functorial approach and the existing constructions of moduli spaces like the one of principally polarized abelian varieties or the Chow varieties, Mumford developed Geometric Invariant Theory (commonly referred to as GIT), which can be described as a method to study and construct moduli spaces as quotients of algebraic groups. In the book [MFK94] Mumford gives two constructions of  $M_q$  as a coarse moduli space.

For a more detailed history and more references see section 0.1 in [Alp24].

## Why category theory?

As we briefly mentioned, the modern approach to moduli problems if formalized via functors. It might not be clear why this is the most appropriate tool, and indeed it can seem more complicated than more concrete treatments in simple cases like the classification of lines through a point via projective space.

Nevertheless, the functorial approach has proven itself to be effective in many aspects, chief among them the formalization of the nebulous concept of "family" described above.

Following Grothendieck's ideas, a moduli problem is expressed as a contravariant functor

 $F: T \mapsto \{\text{families of objects over } T\}_{\sim}$ 

where  $\sim$  is the isomorphism relation imposed on families of objects. Since we are mostly concerned about problems in algebraic geometry, and thus families over schemes, the functor is usually taken to be a presheaf on Sch/S for some base scheme<sup>2</sup> S. To find the set of objects we want to classify up to isomorphism we can simply evaluate F on a point.

The functorial language allows for families to be *pulled back* via morphisms: if  $f: S \to T$  is a morphism and  $a \in F(T)$  is a family over T, then  $F(f): F(T) \to F(S)$  by contravariance and thus  $F(f)(a) \doteq f^*a \in F(S)$  is a family over S.

There are several ways in which we can define a moduli space. The two most relevant are *fine* and *coarse* moduli spaces. A scheme M is a fine moduli space if we can recover the whole moduli functor from it<sup>3</sup>. M is a coarse moduli space if its  $\mathbb{K}$ -points are in bijection with  $F(\text{Spec }\mathbb{K})$ , all families over T induce a morphism  $T \to M$  which behaves well with pullbacks and M is universal for these properties.

In both cases we can interpret a family of objects over a scheme T as a morphism from T to M called *classifying map*. Intuitively this is the function that to each point of T assigns the corresponding isomorphism class. The added structure of a scheme morphism serves to define a "niceness" on families. If M is a fine moduli space, then every family over T can be viewed as the pullback under a morphism  $T \to M$  of a specific family  $u \in F(M)$ , called the *universal family*.

## Why Grassmannians?

Grassmannians are among the first nontrivial examples of spaces whose points represent some type of object one can encounter in their mathematical career. Given two positive integers k and n, the first definition of a Grassmannian Gr(k, n) one encounters is

 $\operatorname{Gr}'(k,n) = \{ H \subseteq \mathbb{K}^n \mid H \text{ vector subspace, } \dim_{\mathbb{K}} H = k \}.$ 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>usually Spec  $\mathbbm{K}$  for an algebraically closed field  $\mathbbm{K}$  or Spec  $\mathbbm{Z}.$ 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>formally, when  $h_M$  and F are naturally isomorphic functors.

This definition invites us to think about the classification problem of k-dimensional vector subspaces of n-dimensional space. This classification problem is best formalized in terms vector bundle quotients as

$$\mathfrak{Gr}(k,n): \begin{array}{ccc} (\mathrm{Sch}/\mathbb{K})^{op} & \longrightarrow & \mathrm{Set} \\ T & \longmapsto & \{\alpha: \mathcal{O}_T^n \twoheadrightarrow Q\}_{\nearrow} \\ f: S \to T & \longmapsto & (\alpha: \mathcal{O}_T^n \to Q) \mapsto (f^*\alpha: \mathcal{O}_S^n \to f^*Q) \end{array}$$

where  $q \sim q' \iff \ker q = \ker q'$ , so the definition we will use for  $\operatorname{Gr}(k, n)$  is actually

$$\operatorname{Gr}(k,n) = \left\{ \varphi : \mathbb{K}^n \to \mathbb{K}^k \mid \operatorname{rnk} \varphi = k \right\}_{\nearrow} \qquad \text{where } \varphi \sim \psi \Longleftrightarrow \ker \varphi = \ker \psi$$

but the two are related, up to canonical identifications, by Gr(k,n) = Gr'(n-k,n). Showing that Grassmannians are schemes and that they are fine moduli spaces for this classification problem is a good introduction to the elementary tools of the theory of fine moduli spaces. Grassmannians also serve as a warm up and necessary stepping stone in the construction of the Quot schemes, which generalize Grassmannians and yield important results like the existence of Hilbert schemes.

### **Description of content**

In this document we introduce the concept of moduli spaces in algebraic geometry and explore the example of the Grassmannian scheme.

The first chapter introduces the basics of the functorial approach to algebraic geometry. After a brief summary on the Yoneda lemma, we define representable functors, moduli problems, Zariski sheaves, open subfunctors and open covers of a functor. We conclude by proving a representability criterion which we will use in the third chapter.

The second chapter provides a quick overview of Grassmannians as defined set theoretically and then shows how we can endow them with the structure of a projective variety. We define the Plücker embedding to identify Grassmannians with subsets of an appropriate projective space and then we prove that these subsets are closed with respect to the Zariski.

In the third chapter we describe the reduced scheme structure on the Grassmannian variety and the open cover of it given by fixing ordered multiindices. We then go on to formalize the moduli problem of classifying (n - k)-vector subspaces of an *n*-dimensional space and prove that the Grassmannian scheme is a fine moduli space for it. The proof revolves around finding an open cover for the Grassmannian moduli problem and then applying the criterion from Chapter 1.

We conclude by generalizing the Grassmannian moduli problem to the Quot functors. The main focus of the chapter is to showcase a construction of the Quot schemes while citing the main results involved like flat base change and Castelnuovo-Mumford regularity. Along the way we will show how this construction is related to Hilbert schemes.

#### l Chapter

# Moduli Spaces

In this chapter we introduce the basic category theory used in the study of moduli spaces. After a quick review of the Yoneda embedding, we define representability of a functor and give the definition of fine and coarse moduli space. After that we give a quick overview of Zariski sheaves and prove representability results that we will need in the third chapter.

We adopt the following conventions:

- All categories considered in this document will be locally small.
- If  $\mathcal{C}$  is a category, we shall write  $X \in \mathcal{C}$  to mean "X is an object in  $\mathcal{C}$ ".
- If  $A, B \in \mathcal{C}$ , we denote the set of morphisms from A to B with Hom (A, B) or Hom  $_{\mathcal{C}}(A, B)$  for specificity.
- If A and B are R-modules we write  $\operatorname{Hom}_{R}(A, B)$  to denote R-linear maps.

Most definitions given in this chapter follow section 0.3 of [Alp24].

## 1.1 Yoneda lemma

**Definition 1.1** (Presheaf). A contravariant functor  $F : \mathcal{C}^{op} \to \text{Set}$  is called a **presheaf** on  $\mathcal{C}$ . If  $T \in \mathcal{C}$  then we call the elements of F(T) families over T.

**Definition 1.2** (Presheaf category). For any fixed category C, the presheaves on C form a category Fun( $C^{op}$ , Set) with morphisms given by natural transformations.

**Definition 1.3** (Hom-functor). Let C be a category and  $X \in C$ . We define the **Hom-functor** of X to be

$$h_X: \begin{array}{cccc} & & & & & & & \\ T & \longmapsto & & & & \\ f:T \to S & \longmapsto & h_X(f): & \begin{array}{cccc} \operatorname{Mom}\left(T,X\right) \\ & & & Hom\left(S,X\right) \\ g & \longmapsto & g \circ f \end{array}$$

Remark 1.4. The Hom-functor is a presheaf.

**Lemma 1.5** (Yoneda Lemma). Let C be a category and  $X \in C$ . If F is a presheaf on C then the following sets are in a natural bijection

$$\operatorname{Hom}(h_X, F) \longleftrightarrow F(X).$$

Proof. Given a natural transformation  $\zeta$ , we can take its image in F(X) to be  $\zeta_X(id_X)$ . On the other hand, for any given element  $u \in F(X)$  we can define an arrow  $h_X(T) \to F(T)$  for any  $T \in \mathcal{C}$  by taking  $f \mapsto F(f)(u)$ . This collection of maps defines a natural transformation from  $h_X$  to F because for all  $g: S \to T$  and for all  $f \in h_X(T)$ 

$$F(g)(F(f)(u)) = (F(g) \circ F(f))(u) = F(f \circ g)(u) = F(h_X(g)(f))(u).$$

To conclude it is enough to check that the two assignments are inverses:

$$F(f)(\zeta_X(id_X)) = \zeta_T(h_X(f)(id_X)) = \zeta_T(f), \quad F(id_X)(u) = u.$$

**Definition 1.6** (Yoneda embedding). We define the **Yoneda embedding** of a category C to be the following functor

$$\begin{array}{cccc} \mathcal{C} & \longrightarrow & \operatorname{Fun}(\mathcal{C}^{op},\operatorname{Set}) \\ h_{\bullet}: & X & \longmapsto & h_{X} \\ & f: X \to Y & \longmapsto & h_{f}: h_{X} \to h_{Y} \end{array}$$

where if  $g: T \to X$  then  $h_f(g) = f \circ g: T \to Y$ .

**Proposition 1.7.** The functor  $h_{\bullet}$  is fully faithful.

*Proof.* Recall that a functor  $F : \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{D}$  is fully faithful if for any two objects  $A, B \in \mathcal{C}$  we have  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{C}}(A, B) \cong \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{D}}(F(A), F(B))$ . In our case we want to verify that

$$\operatorname{Hom}\left(X,Y\right)\cong\operatorname{Hom}\left(h_X,h_Y\right),$$

which is exactly the statement of the Yoneda lemma (1.5) for  $F = h_Y$ .

**Proposition 1.8.** The Yoneda embedding is injective on isomorphism classes of objects in C.

*Proof.* A natural isomorphism  $\zeta : h_A \to h_B$  and its inverse  $\zeta'$  correspond to maps  $f : A \to B$  and  $f' : B \to A$  via the Yoneda lemma. Note that

$$h_{\bullet}(f \circ f') = h_{f \circ f'} = h_f \circ h_{f'} = h_B(\cdot)(f) \circ h_A(\cdot)(f') \stackrel{\text{Yoneda}}{=} \zeta \circ \zeta' = id_{h_B}$$

thus, because  $h_{\bullet}$  if fully faithful, we see that  $f \circ f' = id_B$ . An analogous argument works for  $f' \circ f$ .

Lemma 1.9. The Yoneda embedding preserves limits.

*Proof.* Suppose X is the limit of the diagram  $\{f_{ij} : X_j \to X_i\}$ . If we apply the Yoneda embedding to the diagram we obtain

$$\left\{h_{f_{ij}}:h_{X_j}\to h_{X_i}\right\}$$

Let F be any presheaf on  $\mathcal{C}$  and suppose that we have morphisms  $F \to h_{X_i}$  which make the diagrams commute, then for all  $T \in \mathcal{C}$  we have compatible and natural  $F(T) \to \text{Hom}(T, X_i)$ . If  $f \in F(T)$  then these arrows define several  $f_i \in \text{Hom}(T, X_i)$  which compose with the  $f_{ij}$  respecting the diagram. By the universal property of limits this defines uniquely a morphism  $f_{\ell} \in \text{Hom}(T, X)$  and we see that the assignment  $f \mapsto f_{\ell}$  is the unique map from F(T) to Hom(T, X) which makes the diagram in Set commute. Since all that we have done is natural in T, we have effectively constructed a morphism  $F \to h_X$  as we desired.

### 1.2 Moduli problems

**Definition 1.10** (Representable functor). A presheaf F on C is **representable** if there exists a natural isomorphism  $\zeta : F \to h_X$  for some  $X \in C$ . In this case we say that the pair<sup>1</sup>  $(X, \zeta)$ **represents** F. If  $a \in F(T)$  we call  $\zeta_T(a) : T \to X$  the **classifying map** of the family a.

**Definition 1.11** (Universal family). Given a functor F and an object  $X \in C$  that represents it via the isomorphism  $\zeta : F \to h_X$ , the **universal family** of X is

$$\zeta_X^{-1}(id_X) \in F(X).$$

*Remark* 1.12. The universal family is the element of F(X) which corresponds to  $\zeta^{-1}$  under the Yoneda lemma (1.5).

We now specify our study to the category of schemes:

**Definition 1.13** (Moduli problem). Let S be a scheme. A presheaf on Sch/S is called a moduli problem or moduli functor.

A classical example of moduli problem is

**Example 1.14** (Moduli problem of smooth curves of fixed genus). A family of smooth curves of genus g over a scheme S is a smooth, proper and finitely presented scheme morphism  $C \to S$  such that for all  $s \in S$  the fiber  $C_s$  is a connected, smooth and proper curve of genus g. The moduli problem of smooth curves of genus g is the functor

$$F_{M_g}: \begin{array}{ccc} \operatorname{Sch}/\mathbb{C}^{op} & \longrightarrow & \operatorname{Set} \\ S & \longmapsto & \{\text{families of smooth curves of genus } g \text{ over } S\}_{\nearrow} \\ T \to S & \longmapsto & (C \to S) \mapsto (C \times_S T \to T) \end{array}$$

where two families  $C \to S$  and  $C' \to S$  are equivalent if there exists an isomorphism between C and C' which is compatible with the structure maps over S.

**Definition 1.15** (Fine moduli space). Let F be a moduli functor. A scheme  $X \in Sch/S$  is a fine moduli space for F if X represents F.

Remark 1.16. Because of proposition (1.8), fine moduli spaces are unique up to isomorphism.

**Example 1.17** (Projective space). Consider the functor  $\mathbb{P}_n$  given by

$$\begin{array}{ccc} \operatorname{Sch}^{op} & \longrightarrow & \operatorname{Set} \\ & & \\ S & \longmapsto & \left\{ (\mathcal{L}, s_0, \cdots, s_n) \mid \begin{array}{c} \mathcal{L} \text{ line bundle on } S, s_0, \cdots, s_n \in \mathcal{L}(S), \\ \forall x \in S, \ \langle (s_0)_x, \cdots, (s_n)_x \rangle_{\mathcal{O}_{S,x}} = \mathcal{L}_x \end{array} \right\}_{\nearrow} \\ f & \longmapsto & \text{pullback of sheaves and sections via } f \end{array}$$

where  $(\mathcal{L}, (s_i)) \sim (\mathcal{L}', (s'_i))$  is there exists a sheaf isomorphism  $\alpha : \mathcal{L} \to \mathcal{L}'$  such that  $s_i = \alpha^* s'_i$  for all  $i \in \{0, \dots, n\}$ .

It is a well known property of projective spaces (see Proposition 5.1.31 in [Liu06]) that  $\mathbb{P}_n(S) \cong$ Hom  $(S, \mathbb{P}^n_{\mathbb{Z}})$  and that pullbacks behave as expected, thus  $\mathbb{P}^n_{\mathbb{Z}}$  is a fine moduli space for  $\mathbb{P}_n$ . From the statement of Proposition 5.1.31 in [Liu06] it is also clear that  $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^n_{\mathbb{Z}}}(1)$  is a universal family.

Fine moduli spaces do not always exist. The simplest obstructions to having a fine moduli spaces are

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>usually we just say that X represents F

- the functor is not a Zariski sheaf (see proposition (1.26))
- existence of non trivial automorphisms.

To get an idea for why the second condition is an obstruction we cite the following

**Proposition 1.18.** Let  $F \in (\operatorname{Sch}/\mathbb{C})^{op} \to \operatorname{Set}$  be a moduli functor. If there exists a variety  $S \in \operatorname{Sch}/\mathbb{C}$  such that  $\mathcal{E} \in F(S)$  is an *isotrivial family*, *i.e.* 

- for all  $s, t \in S(\mathbb{C})$ , the fiber  $F(s)(\mathcal{E}) = \mathcal{E}_s = \mathcal{E}_t$  and
- the family  $\mathcal{E}$  is not the pullback of an object  $E \in F(\operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{C})$  along the structural morphism  $S \to \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{C}$ ,

then there exists no fine moduli space for F.

Proof. This is Proposition 0.3.28 in [Alp24].

Remark 1.19. This proposition can be used to show that  $F_{M_g}$  is not representable.

A weaker notion of moduli space is that of coarse moduli space:

**Definition 1.20** (Coarse moduli space). Let F be a moduli problem. A pair  $(X, \zeta)$  for  $X \in \text{Sch}/S$  and  $\zeta : F \to h_X$  natural transformation is a **coarse moduli space** for F if

- $\zeta_{\operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{K}} : F(\operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{K}) \to \operatorname{Hom} (\operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{K}, X)$  is a bijection for all algebraically closed fields  $\mathbb{K}$
- for any scheme Y and  $\eta: F \to h_Y$  natural transformation there exists a unique morphism  $\alpha: X \to Y$  such that  $\eta = h_\alpha \circ \zeta$ .

Proposition 1.21. A fine moduli space is also a coarse moduli space.

*Proof.* The first condition is trivially verified. For the second condition, if  $(Y, \eta)$  is defined as above and (X, u) is the fine moduli space with universal family u then we can take  $\alpha = \eta_X(u)$ .

*Remark* 1.22. There exists a coarse moduli space  $M_g$  for the moduli problem  $F_{M_g}$ . This is a classic result in geometric invariant theory, see [MFK94].

## 1.3 Zariski sheaves and gluing of fine moduli spaces

One approach to show representability of a moduli problem is emulating the gluing properties of sheaves. Indeed it is possible to show that representable functors are sheaves of some kind. This realization will lead to some results that aid in showing representability.

#### 1.3.1 Zariski sheaves

First, let us formalize a way in which a functor can be a sheaf. First we recall the definition of equalizer:

**Definition 1.23** (Equalizer). Let C be a category,  $A, B, C \in C$  and  $f, g : B \to C$ . We say that the the diagram

$$A \stackrel{h}{\longrightarrow} B \stackrel{f}{\underset{g}{\longrightarrow}} C$$

is an **equalizer** if  $h : A \to B$  is such that  $f \circ h = g \circ h$  and if (Q, q) is another such pair then there exists a unique morphism  $Q \to A$  which makes the diagram commute



**Definition 1.24** (Zariski sheaf). A moduli problem  $F \in (\text{Sch}/S)^{op} \to \text{Set}$  is a **Zariski sheaf** if for any S-scheme X and any Zariski open cover  $\{U_i \to X\}$  the following diagram is an equalizer

$$F(X) \longrightarrow \prod_{k} F(U_k) \Longrightarrow \prod_{i,j} F(U_i \cap U_j)$$

where the arrows are induced by the inclusions.

Remark 1.25. Using the Yoneda lemma (1.5), we may equivalently consider

$$\operatorname{Hom}(h_X, F) \longrightarrow \prod_k \operatorname{Hom}(h_{U_k}, F) \Longrightarrow \prod_{i,j} \operatorname{Hom}(h_{U_i \cap U_j}, F)$$

**Proposition 1.26** (Representable moduli functors are Zariski sheaves). Let F be a moduli problem, then if there exists a fine moduli space M for F it must be the case that F is a Zariski sheaf.

*Proof.* Up to composing with the natural isomorphism, we may assume  $F = h_M$ . Let X be an S-scheme and  $\{U_i \to X\}$  a Zariski open cover for it. We want to show that the following diagram is an equalizer

$$\operatorname{Hom}\left(U,M\right) \xrightarrow{\operatorname{Res}} \prod_{i} \operatorname{Hom}\left(U_{i},M\right) \xrightarrow{pr_{1}^{*}} \prod_{i,j} \operatorname{Hom}\left(U_{i}\cap U_{j},M\right)$$

The arrows correspond to restriction of morphisms, so what we need to verify is that

- $\operatorname{res}_{U_i \cap U_j}^{U_i} \circ \operatorname{res}_{U_i}^X = \operatorname{res}_{U_i \cap U_j}^{U_j} \circ \operatorname{res}_{U_j}^X$  and that
- a collection of maps  $\{f_i : U_i \to M\}$  such that  $f_i|_{U_i \cap U_j} = f_j|_{U_i \cap U_j}$  glues uniquely to a map  $f : X \to M$ .

Both propositions are well known properties of scheme morphisms.

#### 1.3.2 Open cover of a moduli problem

**Definition 1.27** (Subfunctor). A functor  $G : \mathcal{C} \to \text{Set}$  is a **subfunctor** of  $F : \mathcal{C} \to \text{Set}$  if for all  $X, A, B \in \mathcal{C}$  and for all  $f \in \text{Hom}(A, B)$ 

 $G(X) \subseteq F(X)$ , and  $G(f) = F(f)|_{G(A)}$ .

In this case we write  $G \subseteq F$ .

Remark 1.28. If F and G are presheaves and  $f: A \to B$  then  $G(f) = F(f)|_{G(B)}$ .

**Definition 1.29** (Fibered product of presheaves). Let  $F, G, H : \mathcal{C}^{op} \to \text{Set}$  be presheaves together with two natural transformations  $\eta : F \to H$  and  $\zeta : G \to H$ . We define their fibered product as the following functor

$$\begin{array}{cccc} & \mathcal{C}^{op} & \longrightarrow & \text{Set} \\ F \times_H G : & X & \longmapsto & F(X) \times_{H(X)} G(X) \\ & f : A \to B & \longmapsto & (b_1, b_2) \mapsto (F(f)(b_1), G(f)(b_2)) \end{array}$$

where the fibered product  $F(X) \times_{H(X)} G(X)$  in defined through the maps  $\eta_X$  and  $\zeta_X$ . The map  $(F \times_H G)(f)$  is well defined because if  $(b_1, b_2) \in F(B) \times_{H(B)} G(B)$  then

$$\eta_A(F(f)(b_1)) = H(f)(\eta_B(b_1)) \stackrel{\eta_B(b_1) = \zeta_B(b_2)}{=} H(f)(\zeta_B(b_2)) = \zeta_A(G(f)(b_2)).$$

**Definition 1.30** (Functor immersions). Let  $\zeta : G \to F$  be a natural transformation of moduli problems.  $\zeta$  is an **open immersion** if  $\zeta_T$  is injective for every scheme  $T \in \text{Sch}/S$  and for every natural transformation  $h_T \to F$  there is an open subscheme  $U \subseteq T$  such that



We define **closed immersions** and **locally closed immersions** analogously.

Because of the Yoneda lemma, giving a natural transformation like in the above definition is equivalent to choosing a family  $\xi \in F(T)$ . We can thus rephrase the definition as follows

**Definition 1.31** (Functor immersions v.2). Let  $\zeta : G \to F$  be a natural transformation of moduli problems.  $\zeta$  is an **open immersion** if  $\zeta_T$  is injective for every scheme  $T \in \operatorname{Sch}/S$  and for every  $\xi \in F(T)$  there exists an open subscheme  $\iota : U \hookrightarrow T$  such that the following diagram is natural in R for all  $R \in \operatorname{Sch}/S$ , commutes and is cartesian<sup>2</sup>

**Closed immersions** and **locally closed immersions** of moduli problems are defined in the same way.

**Definition 1.32** (Open subfunctor). Let  $F : (\operatorname{Sch}/S)^{op} \to \operatorname{Set}$  be a moduli problem. We say that a subfunctor  $G \subseteq F$  is **open** if the natural transformation given by the inclusion is an open immersion.

**Definition 1.33** (Open cover of a functor). Let  $F : (Sch/S)^{op} \to Set$  be a moduli problem. A collection of open subfunctors  $\{F_i \to F\}$  is an **open cover** of F if for any S-scheme T and any natural transformation  $h_T \to F$ , the open subschemes  $U_i$  of T determined by the  $F_i$  form an open cover of T.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>for any map  $f: R \to U$  there exists a  $g: R \to U$  such that  $f = \iota \circ g$  if and only if  $F(f)(\xi) \in G(R)$ .

**Definition 1.34** (Restriction of a family). If U is a subscheme of T and  $\iota : U \to T$  is the inclusion morphism, then if  $\xi \in F(T)$  we define its **restriction** to U to be

$$\xi|_U = F(\iota)(\xi)$$

Remark 1.35. If  $\{F_i \to F\}$  is an open cover of the functor F then for any S-scheme T and any family  $\xi \in F(T)$  there exists an open cover  $\{U_i \to T\}$  of T such that  $\xi|_{U_i} \in F_i(U_i)$  for all i.

#### **1.3.3** Representability criterion

Finally, we come to the main results of this chapter

**Proposition 1.36.** Let F and G be Zariski sheaves,  $\{F_i \to F\}$  and  $\{G_i \to G\}$  be open covers with the same indexation and  $f_i : F_i \to G_i$  be natural transformations such that  $f_i|_{F_i \cap F_j} = f_j|_{F_i \cap F_j}$ . Then there exists a natural transformation  $f : F \to G$  which restricts to  $f_i$  on  $F_i$ .

*Proof.* Let T be a scheme and  $\zeta : h_T \to F$  a natural transformation. Let  $\{\iota_i : U_i \to T\}$  be the open cover induced by  $\{F_i \to F\}$  through  $\zeta$  by the definition of open subfunctor cover.

where  $\eta_i$  is the map  $\zeta \circ h_{\iota_i}$  with its codomain restricted. This map is well defined because the square is cartesian. Let  $g_i = f_i \circ \eta_i$  and note that

$$g_i\big|_{h_{U_i\cap U_j}} = f_i\big|_{F_i\cap F_j} \circ \eta_i\big|_{h_{U_i\cap U_j}} = f_j\big|_{F_i\cap F_j} \circ \eta_j\big|_{h_{U_i\cap U_j}} = g_j\big|_{h_{U_i\cap U_j}}$$

Because G is a Zariski sheaf, there exists  $\zeta' : h_T \to G$  such that  $\zeta' \circ h_{\iota_i} = g_i$ . We have thus constructed a map Hom  $(h_T, F) \to \text{Hom}(h_T, G)$  which is functorial in T by naturality of the maps involved. Applying the Yoneda lemma (1.5) gives a map  $F(T) \to G(T)$  which is functorial in T, i.e.  $f: F \to G$ . By construction it is also clear that  $f|_{F} = f_i$ .

**Corollary 1.37.** With the same setup as above, if each  $f_i$  is an isomorphism then f too is an isomorphism.

*Proof.* Let f be the morphism  $F \to G$  obtained as above and let  $g : G \to F$  be the morphism obtained the same way but by gluing the  $f_i^{-1} : G_i \to F_i$ . It is easy to see that f and g are inverses with a local argument.

**Theorem 1.38** (Representability by open cover). Let  $F : (Sch/S)^{op} \to Set$  be a Zariski sheaf and let  $\{F_i \to F\}$  be an open cover of it by representable subfunctors, then F is representable.

Sketch. We fix schemes  $X_i$  and families  $\xi_i \in F_i(X_i)$  such that  $(X_i, \xi_i)$  is a fine moduli space for  $F_i$ . For all S-schemes T we have

$$(F_i \times_F F_j)(T) = F_i(T) \times_{F(T)} F_j(T) = F_i(T) \cap F_j(T) \subseteq F(T),$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>for a natural transformation  $\zeta : F \to H$  and a subfunctor  $G \subseteq F$ , we define  $\zeta|_G$  as the natural transformation  $G \to H$  given by  $(\zeta|_G)_T = \zeta_T|_{G(T)}$ . Naturality follows from the naturality of f and the definition of subfunctor.

thus  $F_i \times_F F_j = F_j \times_F F_i \doteq F_{i,j}$ . Using the openness of  $F_j$  we find  $U_{ij} \subseteq X_i$  which represents  $h_{X_i} \times_F F_j \cong F_{i,j}$ . By uniqueness of moduli spaces we see that there exists an isomorphism  $\varphi_{ji} : U_{ij} \to U_{ji}$ , which we can choose to

correspond to the identity  $F_{i,j} = F_{j,i}$ . Our choice for the maps  $\varphi_{ji}$  makes the cocycle condition  $\varphi_{ki} = \varphi_{kj} \circ \varphi_{ji}$  hold trivially. We can thus glue the  $X_i$  to a scheme X. Since  $\xi_i|_{U_{ij}} = \xi_j|_{U_{ij}}$  by construction of  $\varphi_{ji}$ , we find a family  $\xi \in F(X)$  by the sheaf property of F. It follows easily that  $(X, \xi)$  represents F.  $\Box$ 

# Chapter 2

# Grassmannians as projective varieties

In this chapter we introduce Grassmannians from the point of view of classical algebraic geometry. We are interested in Grassmannians in the context of classification problems because given their definition, we can expect them to be moduli spaces for families of quotient vector spaces. In the next chapter we will indeed find that they are fine moduli spaces for a functor that formalizes families of fixed rank vector subspaces of  $\mathbb{K}^n$ .

We first define Grassmannians set-theoretically, then we will find a bijection between this set and a Zariski-closed subset of some projective space. This bijection will allow us to endow the Grassmannians with the structure of projective algebraic varieties.

## 2.1 First definitions and conventions

**Notation 2.1.** In this chapter we use V and W to denote a fixed n-dimensional and a fixed kdimensional K-vector space respectively. Unless otherwise stated, we understand  $\mathcal{B} = \{v_1, \dots, v_n\}$ to be a basis of V and  $\mathcal{D} = \{w_1, \dots, w_k\}$  to be a basis of W. We use  $u_i$  and  $q_i$  to indicate general elements of V and W respectively.

When a basis  $\mathcal{F}$  for a vector space U of dimension  $\ell$  is fixed, we denote the isomorphism which sends  $\mathcal{F}$  to the canonical basis of  $\mathbb{K}^{\ell}$  by  $[\cdot]_{\mathcal{F}} : U \to \mathbb{K}^{\ell}$ . We denote the canonical basis of  $\mathbb{K}^{\ell}$  by  $\mathcal{C}an_{\ell} = \{e_1, \cdots, e_{\ell}\}.$ 

**Definition 2.2** (Grassmannian). Let  $k \leq n$  be a pair of positive integers. We define the (n, k)-Grassmannian to be the following set

 $\operatorname{Gr}(k, V) = \{\varphi \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{K}}(V, W) \mid \varphi \text{ surjective}\}_{\nearrow}$ 

where  $\varphi \sim \psi$  if and only if ker  $\varphi = \ker \psi$ . To simplify notation we will usually write Gr(k, n).

*Remark* 2.3. We may equivalently define Gr(k, n) to be the following set:

 $\{\ker \varphi \mid \varphi \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{K}}(V, W), \ \operatorname{rnk} \varphi = k\} = \{H \subseteq V \mid \dim H = n - k\}.$ 

It is common in the literature to give this set the notation  $\operatorname{Gr}(n-k,n)$  instead, but fixing a basis for V yields a bijection between  $\operatorname{Gr}(k,n)$  and  $\operatorname{Gr}(n-k,n)$ , namely  $H \mapsto H^{\perp}$ . **Lemma 2.4.** Let  $\varphi, \psi \in \text{Hom}_{\mathbb{K}}(V, W)$  be linear maps of full rank. The following conditions are equivalent:

- 1. ker  $\varphi = \ker \psi$ ,
- 2. there exists  $\theta \in GL(W)$  such that  $\varphi = \theta \circ \psi$ .

*Proof.* The implication 2.  $\implies$  1. is a straight forward computation, the other can be derived by completing a basis of the kernels to a basis  $\mathcal{B}$  of V and defining  $\theta$  to be the change of basis between the images of  $\mathcal{B}$  under  $\varphi$  and  $\psi$ .

We conclude this introductory section with some notation and conventions.

**Definition 2.5** (Multiindicies). We define a (k, n)-multiindex as an element of the set  $\{1, \dots, n\}^k$ . Our notation for a multiindex I will usually be  $I = (i_1, \dots, i_k)$ . We denote the set of ordered (k, n)-multiindicies by

$$\omega(k,n) = \left\{ (i_1, \cdots, i_k) \in \{1, \cdots, n\}^k \mid i_1 < \cdots < i_k \right\}.$$

If  $I \in \omega(k, n)$ , we write

- $\widehat{I}$  for the element of  $\omega(n-k,n)$  whose entries are the elements of  $\{1, \dots, n\}$  missing from I and
- $\sigma_I$  for the permutation that sends the concatenation  $\widehat{I} * I$  to  $(1, \dots, n)$ .

Remark 2.6. If  $I = (i_1, \dots, i_k)$  is a (k, n)-multiindex and  $u_1, \dots, u_n$  are n vectors of V, we define

$$u_I = u_{i_1} \wedge \cdots \wedge u_{i_k}.$$

Note also that if  $\mathcal{B}$  is a basis of V then

$$\{v_I \mid I \in \omega(k, n)\}$$

yields a basis of  $\bigwedge^k V$ , which we call the **basis induced by**  $\mathcal{B}$  and denote by  $\wedge^k \mathcal{B}$ .

Notation 2.7. For  $\mathcal{F}$  and  $\mathcal{G}$  bases of U and Z respectively, we define

$$\eta_{\mathcal{F}} = [\cdot]_{\wedge^{\dim U}\mathcal{F}} : \bigwedge^{\dim U} U \to \mathbb{K}, \quad \eta_{\mathcal{G}}^{\mathcal{F}} = \eta_{\mathcal{G}}^{-1} \circ \eta_{\mathcal{F}} : \bigwedge^{\dim Z} Z \to \bigwedge^{\dim U} U.$$

## 2.2 The Plücker embedding

In this section we define an injection from the Grassmannian to a projective space. Our approach differs slightly from the usual one<sup>1</sup> because we consider equivalence classes of maps rather than equivalence classes of bases of subspaces.

**Definition 2.8** (Plücker map). Let  $k \leq n$  be a pair of positive integers. We define the **Plücker** map as<sup>2</sup>

$$\wedge^{k}: \begin{array}{ccc} \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{K}}(V,W) & \longrightarrow & \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{K}}(\bigwedge^{k}V,\bigwedge^{k}W) \\ \varphi & \longmapsto & \wedge^{k}\varphi \end{array},$$

where  $(\wedge^k \varphi)(u_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge u_k) = \varphi(u_1) \wedge \cdots \wedge \varphi(u_k).$ 

<sup>1</sup>briefly illustrated in [Bjö99], pages 79 and 80

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>the map  $\wedge^k \varphi$  is well defined because if we view it as a map  $\wedge^k \varphi : V^{\times k} \to \bigwedge^k W$  then it is multilinear and alternating.

*Remark* 2.9. The codomain of the Plücker map is isomorphic to  $\bigwedge^k V$ , indeed

Hom 
$$_{\mathbb{K}}\left(\bigwedge^{k}V,\bigwedge^{k}W\right)\cong\left(\bigwedge^{k}V\right)^{\vee}\cong\bigwedge^{k}V.$$

For fixed bases of V and W we can write one such isomorphism concretely as

$$\zeta_{\mathcal{B},\mathcal{D}}: \begin{array}{cc} \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{K}}(\bigwedge^{k} V, \bigwedge^{k} W) & \longrightarrow & \bigwedge^{k} V\\ \psi & \longmapsto & \sum_{I \in \omega(k,n)} \eta_{\mathcal{D}}(\psi(v_{I})) v_{I} \end{array}$$

When the bases are clear from context we simply write  $\zeta$ .

Notation 2.10. We define  $\phi_{\mathcal{B},\mathcal{D}} \doteq \zeta_{\mathcal{B},\mathcal{D}} \circ \wedge^k : \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{K}}(V,W) \to \bigwedge^k V$ 

Proposition 2.11. The image of the Plücker map is a cone.

*Proof.* We have  $\lambda \wedge^k \varphi = \wedge^k (\alpha \circ \varphi)$  for any  $\alpha \in GL(W)$  with determinant  $\lambda$ .

**Lemma 2.12.** If  $\varphi \in \text{Hom}_{\mathbb{K}}(V, W)$  then  $\text{rnk} \varphi < k$  if and only if  $\wedge^k(\varphi) = 0$ .

*Proof.*  $\wedge^k(\varphi)$  is the zero map if an only if the set  $\{\varphi(u_1), \cdots, \varphi(u_k)\}$  is linearly dependent for any choice of  $u_1, \cdots, u_k$ , i.e.  $\varphi$  is not of full rank.

**Lemma 2.13.** Let  $\varphi: V \to W$  be a full rank linear map, then

$$\ker \varphi = \left\{ z \in V \mid \forall u_2, \cdots, u_k \in V, \ \wedge^k(\varphi)(z \wedge u_2 \wedge \cdots \wedge u_k) = 0 \right\}.$$

*Proof.* The inclusion  $\subseteq$  is trivial. If  $\varphi(z) \neq 0$  we can find k-1 vectors of the desired form by completing  $\varphi(z)$  to a basis  $\varphi(z), q_2, \cdots, q_k$  of W and then taking  $u_i$  to be any element of  $\varphi^{-1}(q_i)$ . This preimage is not empty by surjectivity of  $\varphi$ .

**Proposition 2.14** (Injectivity of the Plücker map up to scalars). Let ~ be the equivalence relation on Hom  $_{\mathbb{K}}(V, W)$  which defines  $\operatorname{Gr}(k, n)$ , then for any two full rank linear maps  $\varphi, \psi: V \to W$ 

$$\varphi \sim \psi \iff \exists \lambda \in \mathbb{K}^* \ s.t. \ \wedge^k (\varphi) = \lambda \wedge^k (\psi).$$

*Proof.* We prove both implications:

 $\implies$  By lemma (2.4), if  $\varphi \sim \psi$  then there exists  $\theta \in GL(W)$  such that  $\varphi = \theta \circ \psi$ , thus

$$\wedge^{k}(\varphi) = \wedge^{k}(\theta \circ \psi) = (\det \theta) \wedge^{k}(\psi).$$

 $\leftarrow$  It is enough to apply lemma (2.13) as follows:

$$\ker \varphi = \left\{ z \in V \mid \forall u_2, \cdots, u_k \in V, \ \wedge^k(\varphi)(z \wedge u_2 \wedge \cdots \wedge u_k) = 0 \right\} = \\ = \left\{ z \in V \mid \forall u_2, \cdots, u_k \in V, \ \lambda \wedge^k(\psi)(z \wedge u_2 \wedge \cdots \wedge u_k) = 0 \right\} = \\ = \left\{ z \in V \mid \forall u_2, \cdots, u_k \in V, \ \wedge^k(\psi)(z \wedge u_2 \wedge \cdots \wedge u_k) = 0 \right\} = \ker \psi.$$

**Definition 2.15** (Plücker embedding). Let us fix bases  $\mathcal{B}$  and  $\mathcal{D}$  of V and W. We define the **Plücker embedding** as follows

$$\begin{array}{ccc} \operatorname{Gr}(k,n) & \longrightarrow & \mathbb{P}(\bigwedge^k V) \\ \operatorname{Pl}_{\mathcal{B}}: & & \\ & & [\varphi] & \longmapsto & \left[ \sum_{I \in \omega(k,n)} \eta_{\mathcal{D}}(\wedge^k \varphi(v_I)) v_I \right] \end{array}$$

The entries of the  $\binom{n}{k}$ -tuple  $\left[\left\{\eta_{\mathcal{D}}(\wedge^{k}(\varphi(v_{I})))\right\}_{I\in\omega(k,n)}\right]$  are called the **Plücker coordinates** of  $[\varphi]$ . We will give a cleaner form of the Plücker coordinates once we express this map in terms of matricies.

Remark 2.16. If the Plücker embedding is well defined, it does not depend on the choice of basis for W. Indeed changing the basis of W simply multiplies all Plücker coordinates by the same nonzero scalar<sup>3</sup>, so the resulting point in  $\mathbb{P}(\bigwedge^k V)$  is left unchanged.

#### **Proposition 2.17.** The Plücker embedding is well defined and injective.

*Proof.* Because of proposition (2.14) and lemma (2.12), there exists a unique map p such that the diagram commutes

It follows that  $\operatorname{Pl}_{\mathcal{B}}$  is well defined because  $\operatorname{Pl}_{\mathcal{B}} = \mathbb{P}(\zeta_{\mathcal{B},\mathcal{D}}) \circ p$ .

By proposition (2.14) we have that p is injective, so  $\text{Pl}_{\mathcal{B}}$  must also be injective because  $\zeta_{\mathcal{B},\mathcal{D}}$  is an isomorphism.

Remark 2.18.  $\operatorname{Pl}_{\mathcal{B}} \circ \pi_{\sim} = \mathbb{P}(\zeta_{\mathcal{B},\mathcal{D}} \circ \wedge^k) = \mathbb{P}(\phi_{\mathcal{B},\mathcal{D}}).$ 

#### 2.2.1 Matrix form

Notation 2.19. If A is a  $k \times n$  matrix and I is a (k, n)-multiindex, we denote the *I*-minor of A by  $A_I$ , i.e.

$$A_I = \begin{pmatrix} a_{1,i_1} & \cdots & a_{1,i_k} \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ a_{k,i_1} & \cdots & a_{k,i_k} \end{pmatrix}.$$

If B is an  $\alpha \times \beta$  matrix,  $i \in \{1, \dots, \alpha\}$  and  $j \in \{1, \dots, \beta\}$ , we denote the  $(\alpha - 1) \times (\beta - 1)$  matrix obtained from B by deleting the *i*-th row and the *j*-th column with  $B_{\times i, \times j}$ .

If we fix bases  $\mathcal{B}$  for V and  $\mathcal{D}$  for W we can identify V with  $\mathbb{K}^n$ , W with  $\mathbb{K}^k$  and  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{K}}(V, W)$  with  $\mathcal{M}(k, n)$ . Under these identifications we have

$$\operatorname{Gr}(k,n) = \{A \in \mathcal{M}(k,n) \mid \operatorname{rnk} A = k\}_{\nearrow},$$

where  $A \sim B \iff \exists P \in \operatorname{GL}_k$  such that A = PB.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>the determinant of the change of basis

Because  $\wedge^k \varphi(u_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge u_k) = \det \left( [\varphi(u_1)]_{\mathcal{D}} | \cdots | [\varphi(u_k)]_{\mathcal{D}} \right) w_{(1, \cdots, k)}$  we have

$$\begin{array}{cccc} \mathcal{M}(k,n) & \longrightarrow & \bigwedge^{k} \mathbb{K}^{n} \\ \phi : & A & \longmapsto & \sum_{I \in \omega(k,n)} \det A_{I} e_{I} \end{array}$$
$$\operatorname{Gr}(k,n) & \longrightarrow & \mathbb{P}(\bigwedge^{k} \mathbb{K}^{n}) & = & \mathbb{P}^{\binom{n}{k}-1} \\ \operatorname{Pl}: & & [A]_{\sim} & \longmapsto & \left[ \sum_{I \in \omega(k,n)} \det A_{I} e_{I} \right]_{\mathbb{K}^{*}} = & \left[ \{\det A_{I}\}_{I \in \omega(k,n)} \right]_{\mathbb{K}} \end{array}$$

## 2.3 The image of the Plücker embedding is closed

Thus far we have identified Gr(k, n) with a subset of some projective space. We seek to show that this subset is closed in the Zariski topology.

#### 2.3.1 Some linear algebra results

**Definition 2.20** (Divisibility). We say that  $\omega \in \bigwedge^k V$  is **divisible** by  $v \in V$  if there exists  $\varepsilon \in \bigwedge^{k-1} V$  such that  $\omega = \varepsilon \wedge v$ .

**Lemma 2.21.**  $\omega \in \bigwedge^k V$  is divisible by  $v \in V \setminus \{0\}$  if and only if  $\omega \wedge v = 0$ .

*Proof.* If  $\omega = \varepsilon \wedge v$  then  $\omega \wedge v = \varepsilon \wedge v \wedge v = 0$ . If  $\omega \wedge v = 0$  then by writing  $\omega$  in a basis containing v we can see that the simple multivectors with nonzero coefficients must contain v as a factor, so we can factor out v by multilinearity and get a decomposition of the form  $\omega = \varepsilon \wedge v$ .

**Corollary 2.22** (Total decomposability criterion). Let  $\omega \in \bigwedge^k V$  and define

$$D_{\omega} = \{ v \in V \mid \omega \land v = 0 \}.$$

If dim  $D_{\omega} \ge k$  then  $\omega = \lambda v_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge v_k$  for any set of linearly independent vectors  $\{v_1, \cdots, v_k\}$  in  $D_{\omega}$  and some scalar  $\lambda$ . Moreover  $\lambda \ne 0$  if and only if dim  $D_{\omega} = k$ .

*Proof.* For the first part of the result we may just iterate the above lemma. If  $\lambda = 0$  then  $D_{\omega} = V$ , so its dimension is not k. If the dimension is greater than k then we may subtract two total decompositions differing only by one vector and use linear independence to check that the coefficients must have been zero.

**Proposition 2.23.** There is a canonical isomorphism between  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{K}}(\bigwedge^{k} V, \bigwedge^{n} V)$  and  $\bigwedge^{n-k} V$  given by

$$\Xi: \begin{array}{ccc} \Lambda^{n-k}V & \longrightarrow & \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{K}}(\bigwedge^{k}V, \bigwedge^{n}V) \\ \omega & \longmapsto & \omega \wedge \cdot \end{array}$$

For any basis  $\mathcal{B}$  of V, the inverse of  $\Xi$  is given by

$$\Gamma_{\mathcal{B}}: \begin{array}{ccc} \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{K}}(\bigwedge^{k} V, \bigwedge^{n} V) & \longrightarrow & \bigwedge^{n-k} V\\ \psi & \longmapsto & \sum_{I \in \omega(n-k,n)} \operatorname{sgn} \sigma_{I} \eta_{\mathcal{B}}(\psi(v_{\widehat{I}})) v_{I} \end{array}$$

*Proof.*  $\Xi$  is clearly base independent and linear. Concluding from here is simply a matter of computing  $\Gamma_{\mathcal{B}}(\Xi(\omega))$  by writing  $\omega$  in terms of its coordinates in  $\wedge^k \mathcal{B}$  and verifying that  $\Xi(\Gamma_{\mathcal{B}}(\psi))$  and  $\psi$  agree on  $\wedge^k \mathcal{B}$ .

**Corollary 2.24.** Let  $\psi \in \text{Hom}_{\mathbb{K}}(\bigwedge^k V, \bigwedge^k W)$ . If  $\mathcal{B} = \{v_1, \dots, v_n\}$  and  $\mathcal{B}' = \{v'_1, \dots, v'_n\}$  are bases for V and  $\mathcal{D} = \{w_1, \dots, w_k\}$  and  $\mathcal{D}' = \{w'_1, \dots, w'_k\}$  are bases for W, there exists  $\mu \in \mathbb{K}^*$  such that

$$\sum_{I \in \omega(n-k,n)} \operatorname{sgn} \sigma_I \eta_{\mathcal{D}}(\psi(v_{\widehat{I}})) v_I = \mu \sum_{I \in \omega(n-k,n)} \operatorname{sgn} \sigma_I \eta_{\mathcal{D}'}(\psi(v'_{\widehat{I}})) v'_I.$$

Proof. Note that

$$\sum_{I \in \omega(n-k,n)} \operatorname{sgn} \sigma_I \eta_{\mathcal{D}}(\psi(v_{\widehat{I}})) v_I = \Xi^{-1}(\eta_{\mathcal{B}}^{\mathcal{D}} \circ \psi)$$

and similarly the other expression is  $\Xi^{-1}(\eta_{\mathcal{B}'}^{\mathcal{D}'} \circ \psi)$ . It is therefore enough to show that  $\eta_{\mathcal{D}}^{\mathcal{B}} = \mu \eta_{\mathcal{D}'}^{\mathcal{B}'}$  for some  $\mu \in \mathbb{K}^*$ , which is true because

$$\dim_{\mathbb{K}} \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{K}} \left( \bigwedge^{n} V, \bigwedge^{k} W \right) = 1$$

and both  $\eta_{\mathcal{D}}^{\mathcal{B}}$  and  $\eta_{\mathcal{D}'}^{\mathcal{B}'}$  are not the zero map.

#### 2.3.2 Rank condition for the image

**Lemma 2.25.** Fix bases  $\mathcal{B}$  and  $\mathcal{D}$  of V and W respectively. A multilinear alternating form  $\psi \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{K}}(\bigwedge^{k} V, \bigwedge^{k} W)$  is in the image of the Plücker map  $\wedge^{k}$  if and only if there exists  $\lambda \in \mathbb{K}$  and linearly independent vectors  $z_{1}, \dots, z_{n-k}$  such that

$$\sum_{I \in \omega(n-k,n)} \operatorname{sgn} \sigma_I \eta_{\mathcal{D}}(\psi(v_{\widehat{I}})) v_I = \lambda z_{(1,\cdots,n-k)}.$$

*Proof.* We show both implications

 $\implies If \psi = \wedge^k \varphi, \text{ the equality follows by choosing } z_1, \cdots, z_{n-k} \text{ to be a basis of } \ker \varphi. \text{ Completing this set to a basis of } V \text{ and using corollary (2.24) gives the result after a simple calculation.}$ 

 $\leftarrow$  Let  $\mathcal{Z} = \{z_1, \dots, z_n\}$  be a basis of V which extends the given  $z_1, \dots, z_{n-k}$ . We can take  $\varphi$  to be

$$\varphi(z_i) = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } 1 \le i \le n-k \\ \left(\mu\lambda \operatorname{sgn} \sigma_{(1,\cdots,n-k)}\right) w_1 & \text{if } i = n-k+1 \\ w_{i-n+k} & \text{if } i > n-k+1 \end{cases}$$

where  $\mu \in \mathbb{K}^*$  is such that  $\eta_{\mathcal{D}}^{\mathcal{B}} = \mu \eta_{\mathcal{D}}^{\mathcal{Z}}$ .

**Definition 2.26.** Let  $\mathcal{B}$  be a basis of V. If  $\omega = \sum_{J \in \omega(k,n)} p_J v_J$  we define

$$\begin{array}{cccc} V & \longrightarrow & \bigwedge^{n-k+1} V \\ \Phi_{\mathcal{B}}(\omega): & v & \longmapsto & \sum_{I \in \omega(n-k,n)} \operatorname{sgn} \sigma_I p_{\widehat{I}} v_I \wedge v \end{array} .$$

Remark 2.27. For any basis  $\mathcal{D}$  of W we have  $\Phi_{\mathcal{B}}(\omega)(v) = \Xi^{-1}(\eta_{\mathcal{B}}^{\mathcal{D}} \circ \zeta_{\mathcal{B},\mathcal{D}}^{-1}(\omega)) \wedge v$ .

**Proposition 2.28.** A k-multivector  $\omega \in \bigwedge^k V$  is in the image of  $\phi_{\mathcal{B},\mathcal{D}}$  if and only if  $\Phi_{\mathcal{B}}(\omega)$  has rank at most k.

*Proof.*  $\omega \in \text{Imm} \phi_{\mathcal{B},\mathcal{D}}$  if and only if  $\zeta_{\mathcal{B},\mathcal{D}}^{-1}(\omega) \in \text{Imm} \wedge^k$  by definition, so what we want to show is that  $\psi \in \text{Imm} \wedge^k$  if and only if the rank of the map

$$\Upsilon_{\mathcal{B},\mathcal{D}}(\psi): v \mapsto \Xi^{-1}(\eta_{\mathcal{B}}^{\mathcal{D}} \circ \psi) \wedge v = \sum_{I \in \omega(n-k,n)} \operatorname{sgn} \sigma_{I} \eta_{\mathcal{D}}(\psi(v_{\widehat{I}})) v_{I} \wedge v$$

is at most k.

For the  $\implies$  arrow, let  $\psi = \wedge^k \varphi$  and choose a basis  $\mathcal{Z} = \{z_1, \dots, z_n\}$  for V which extends a basis of ker  $\varphi$ . Because of how we proved lemma (2.25), we see that if  $v \in \ker \varphi$  then  $\Upsilon_{\mathcal{B},\mathcal{D}}(\wedge^k \varphi)(v) = \lambda z_{(1,\dots,n-k)} \wedge v$ , which is zero by linear dependence. Thus the nullity of  $\Upsilon_{\mathcal{B},\mathcal{D}}(\wedge^k \varphi)$  is at least dim ker  $\varphi = n - k$ .

Given  $z_1, \dots, z_{n-k}$  linearly independent vectors in ker  $\Upsilon_{\mathcal{B},\mathcal{D}}(\psi)$ , by the total decomposability criterion (2.22) there exists  $\lambda \in \mathbb{K}$  such that

$$\sum_{\substack{\in \omega(n-k,n)}} \operatorname{sgn} \sigma_I \eta_{\mathcal{D}}(\psi(v_{\widehat{I}})) v_I = \lambda z_1 \wedge \dots \wedge z_{n-k}.$$

This concludes by lemma (2.25).

I

**Theorem 2.29.** The image of  $\phi_{\mathcal{B},\mathcal{D}}$  is a Zariski closed subset of  $\bigwedge^k V$ .

Proof. We seek to translate the rank condition (2.28) into equations on the coordinates of  $\bigwedge^k V$ . Let  $\mathbb{K}[z_I \mid I \in \omega(k, n)]$  be the coordinate ring of  $\bigwedge^k \mathbb{K}^n$ . If  $B^I \in \mathcal{M}\left(\binom{n}{n-k+1}, n, \mathbb{K}\right)$  is the matrix which represents  $\Phi_{\mathcal{B}}(v_I)$  in the bases induced by  $\mathcal{B}$  and  $\mathcal{D}$  then we define

$$M_{\mathcal{B},\mathcal{D}} = \sum_{I,\omega(k,n)} B^I z_I = \left( \sum_{I \in \omega(k,n)} (B^I)_{i,j} z_I \right)_{i,j}.$$

This matrix represents  $\Phi_{\mathcal{B}}$  in the following way: if  $\omega = \sum_{I \in \omega(k,n)} p_I v_I$ ,

$$\Phi_{\mathcal{B}}(\omega)(v) = \sum_{I \in \omega(k,n)} p_I \Phi_{\mathcal{B}}(v_I)(v) = \sum_{I \in \omega(k,n)} p_I B^I v = M_{\mathcal{B}}|_{z_I = p_I} v.$$

It follows that the coordinates of the k-multivectors in the image of  $\phi_{\mathcal{B},Dc}$  are exactly those that satisfy the determinantal criterion for the rank being at most k, i.e.

$$\operatorname{Imm} \phi_{\mathcal{B},\mathcal{D}} = \left\{ \sum_{I \in \omega(k,n)} p_I v_I | \operatorname{rnk} M_{\mathcal{B},\mathcal{D}} |_{z_I = p_I} < k+1 \right\} =$$
$$= V(\{\det m \mid m \text{ is a } (k+1) \times (k+1) \text{ minor of } M\}).$$

**Corollary 2.30.**  $\operatorname{Pl}_{\mathcal{B}}$  endows  $\operatorname{Gr}(k, n)$  with the structure of a projective variety.

*Proof.* Since Imm  $\phi_{\mathcal{B},\mathcal{D}}$  is a cone (2.11) and Zariski closed we see that

 $\mathbb{P}(\operatorname{Imm} \phi_{\mathcal{B},\mathcal{D}}) = \operatorname{Imm} \operatorname{Pl}_{\mathcal{B}}$ 

is Zariski closed. We conclude by recalling that  $\operatorname{Imm} \operatorname{Pl}_{\mathcal{B}}$  is in bijection with  $\operatorname{Gr}(k, n)$  by injectivity of  $\operatorname{Pl}_{\mathcal{B}}(2.17)$ .

*Remark* 2.31. The determinants we used to show that the image of the Plücker embedding is closed do not generate the ideal of that variety. The most well known set of generators for that ideal are the **Plücker relations** (Theorem 2.4.3 in [Bjö99], page 80).

# Chapter 3

# Representability of the Grassmannian functor

In this chapter we will work with  $\mathbb{K}^n$  and  $\mathbb{K}^k$  instead of abstract vector spaces. This means that we have canonical bases  $Can_n = \{e_1, \dots, e_n\}$  and  $Can_k = \{e_1, \dots, e_k\}$  and that we identify  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{K}}(\mathbb{K}^n, \mathbb{K}^k)$  with  $\mathcal{M}(k, n)$ .

To distinguish the scheme morphisms we define in this chapter from the morphisms of varieties defined previously we use a superscript s (for "set-theoretic") for the latter, i.e.

$$\phi^{s}: \begin{array}{ccc} \mathcal{M}(k,n) & \longrightarrow & \bigwedge^{k} \mathbb{K}^{n} \\ A & \longmapsto & \sum_{I \in \omega(k,n)} \det A_{I} e_{I} \ , \quad \mathrm{Pl}^{s}: \begin{array}{ccc} \mathrm{Gr}(k,n) & \longrightarrow & \mathbb{P}(\bigwedge^{k} \mathbb{K}^{n}) \\ [A]_{\sim} & \longmapsto & [\phi^{s}(A)]_{\mathbb{K}^{*}} \end{array}$$

Notation 3.1. Let I be an ideal of the ring A and J be a homogeneous ideal of the graded ring B. We adopt the following notation

$$V(I) = \{ \mathfrak{p} \in \operatorname{Spec} A \mid I \subseteq \mathfrak{p} \}, \quad V_+(J) = \{ \mathfrak{p} \in \operatorname{Proj} B \mid I \subseteq \mathfrak{p} \}.$$

### 3.1 Grassmannians as projective schemes

**Definition 3.2** (Bracket ring). We define the **bracket ring** (see page 79 of [Bjö99]) as the ring of polynomial functions on  $\bigwedge^k \mathbb{K}^n$ , i.e.

$$\mathcal{B}_{k,n} \doteq \frac{\mathbb{K}[z_I \mid I \in \{1, \cdots, n\}^k]}{(\{z_I - \operatorname{sgn}(\sigma) z_{\sigma(I)}\}_{\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}_k})} \cong \mathbb{K}[z_I \mid I \in \omega(k, n)].$$

We define  $\mathcal{B}_{k,n}^+$  to be the ideal generated by the indeterminates  $z_I$ .

**Definition 3.3** (Ring of generic matrices). Let  $\mathbb{K}[X_{k,n}] \doteq \mathbb{K}[x_{1,1}, \cdots, x_{k,n}]$  denote the polynomial ring with  $k \cdot n$  variables. We define the **generic matrix** as

$$X = \begin{pmatrix} x_{1,1} & \cdots & x_{1,n} \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ x_{k,1} & \cdots & x_{k,n} \end{pmatrix}.$$

By the same token we use  $X_I$  to denote the generic  $k \times k$  minor determined by the multiindex I and det  $X_I$  to write the formal determinant of this minor.

Remark 3.4. The ring  $\mathbb{K}[X_{k,n}]$  is the coordinate ring of  $\mathcal{M}(k,n)$ .

*Remark* 3.5. The familiar  $\mathcal{M}(k,n)$  and  $\bigwedge^k \mathbb{K}^n$  can be identified with the  $\mathbb{K}$ -points of the affine schemes  $\operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{K}[X_{k,n}]$  and  $\operatorname{Spec} \mathcal{B}_{k,n}$  respectively (Example 2.3.32 of [Liu06]). We will use this identification for the rest of the chapter.

**Definition 3.6** (Plücker ring homomorphism). We define the **Plücker ring homomorphism** or simply **Plücker homomorphism** as

$$\phi^{\#}: \begin{array}{ccc} \mathcal{B}_{k,n} & \longrightarrow & \mathbb{K}[X_{k,n}] \\ z_I & \longmapsto & \det X_I \end{array}$$

For brevity we will denote Spec  $\phi^{\#}$  by  $\phi$ .

*Remark* 3.7. It is clear by construction that

$$\phi|_{\mathcal{M}(k,n)}(A) = \sum_{I \in \omega(k,n)} \det A_I e_I = \phi^s(A).$$

**Proposition 3.8.** ker  $\phi^{\#}$  is a homogeneous prime ideal and  $\mathcal{B}_{k,n}^+ \not\subseteq \ker \phi^{\#}$ .

Proof. ker  $\phi^{\#}$  is prime because  $\mathbb{K}[X_{k,n}]$  is an integral domain and  $z_I \notin \ker \phi^{\#}$  because deg  $\phi^{\#}(z_I) = \deg(\det X_I) = k > 0$ . To show homogeneity let us note that if g is homogeneous of degree d then  $\phi^{\#}(g)$  is homogeneous of degree kd. If follows that if  $f_d$  is the homogeneous component of f of degree d and  $0 = \phi^{\#}(f) = \sum_{d \in \mathbb{N}} \phi^{\#}(f_d)$  then  $\phi^{\#}(f_d) = 0$  for all  $d \in \mathbb{N}$ .

**Proposition 3.9.** Let  $t : \operatorname{Var}/\mathbb{K} \to \operatorname{Sch}/\mathbb{K}$  be the fully faithful functor defined as in Proposition 2.6 of [Har77]. Then  $V_+(\ker \phi^{\#}) \cong t(\operatorname{Imm} \operatorname{Pl}^s)$ .

*Proof.* Because t is fully faithful, we only need to show that  $V_+(\ker(\phi^{\#}))(\mathbb{K}) \cong \operatorname{Imm} \operatorname{Pl}^s$ . Passing to the corresponding cones, this is equivalent to

$$\operatorname{Imm} \phi^s \cong V(\ker \phi^{\#})(\mathbb{K}) = \overline{\operatorname{Imm} \phi}_{|_{\mathcal{M}(k,n)}} = \overline{\operatorname{Imm} \phi^s},$$

which is true because  $\operatorname{Imm} \phi^s \stackrel{(2.29)}{=} \overline{\operatorname{Imm} \phi^s}$ .

From now on  $\operatorname{Gr}(k, n)$  will also have the scheme structure of  $V_+(\ker \phi^{\#})$ . What we used to write  $\operatorname{Gr}(k, n)$  corresponds to  $\operatorname{Gr}(k, n)(\mathbb{K})$ .

#### 3.1.1 Standard affine cover of the Grassmannian scheme

Recall that projective space admits a standard affine cover given by the loci where one indeterminate does not vanish. In our case we see that

$$\operatorname{Proj} \mathcal{B}_{k,n} = \bigcup_{I \in \omega(k,n)} \operatorname{Spec} \left( \left( \mathcal{B}_{k,n} \right)_{z_I}^0 \right) = \bigcup_{I \in \omega(k,n)} \operatorname{Spec} \left( \mathbb{K} \left[ \frac{z_J}{z_I} \mid J \in \omega(k,n) \right] \right)$$

where the subscript denotes localization with multiplicative part  $\{1, z_I, z_I^2, \cdots\}$  and the superscript 0 denotes the fact that we are only considering terms of degree 0 in this ring (this is the notation used in [Liu06]).

 $\square$ 

This open affine cover of  $\operatorname{Proj} \mathcal{B}_{k,n}$  induces an open cover on  $\operatorname{Gr}(k,n)$  as follows:

$$\operatorname{Gr}(k,n) = V_{+}(\ker \phi^{\#}) = \bigcup_{I \in \omega(k,n)} \operatorname{Spec}\left(\left(\frac{\mathcal{B}_{k,n}}{\ker \phi^{\#}}\right)_{z_{I}}^{0}\right).$$

**Notation 3.10.** Let us fix  $I \in \omega(k, n)$ , then we denote the restriction of  $\phi^{\#}$  as

$$\phi_I^{\#}: \begin{array}{ccc} \mathbb{K}\left[\frac{z_J}{z_I} \mid J \in \omega(k,n)\right] & \longrightarrow & \mathbb{K}[X_{k,n}]_{\det X_I}^0 \\ & \frac{z_J}{z_I} & \longmapsto & \frac{\det X_J}{\det X_I} \end{array}$$

Remark 3.11. By the first isomorphism theorem we have

$$\frac{\left(\mathcal{B}_{k,n}\right)_{z_{I}}^{0}}{\ker \phi_{I}^{\#}} \cong \operatorname{Imm} \phi_{I}^{\#} = \mathbb{K} \left[ \frac{\det X_{J}}{\det X_{I}} \mid J \in \omega(k,n) \right] \doteq \mathbb{K} \left[ \frac{\det X_{J}}{\det X_{I}} \right].$$

Remark 3.12. Applying a property of localization we have

$$\left(\frac{\mathcal{B}_{k,n}}{\ker \phi^{\#}}\right)_{z_I} = \frac{\left(\mathcal{B}_{k,n}\right)_{z_I}}{\left(\ker \phi^{\#}\right)_{z_I}},$$

thus

$$\left(\frac{\mathcal{B}_{k,n}}{\ker\phi^{\#}}\right)_{z_{I}}^{0} = \left(\frac{\left(\mathcal{B}_{k,n}\right)_{z_{I}}}{(\ker\phi^{\#})_{z_{I}}}\right)^{0} = \frac{\left(\mathcal{B}_{k,n}\right)_{z_{I}}^{0}}{\ker\phi_{I}^{\#}} \cong \mathbb{K}\left[\frac{\det X_{J}}{\det X_{I}}\right]$$

In summary we have shown that, up to some canonical identifications,

$$\operatorname{Gr}(k,n) = \bigcup_{I \in \omega(k,n)} \operatorname{Spec}\left(\mathbb{K}\left[\frac{\det X_J}{\det X_I}\right]\right) \doteq \bigcup_{I \in \omega(k,n)} \operatorname{Gr}_I(k,n).$$

**Notation 3.13.** Let I be a (k, n)-multiindex,  $i \in \{1, \dots, k\}$  and  $j \in \{1, \dots, n\}$ . We define  $I_j^i$  to be the multiindex which is the same as I but with the *i*-th entry replaced with j.

**Lemma 3.14.** If  $I \in \omega(k, n)$  then the following equality holds in  $\mathbb{K}[X_{k,n}]_{\det X_I}$ 

$$X_I^{-1}X = \begin{pmatrix} w_{I_1^1} & \cdots & w_{I_n^1} \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ w_{I_1^k} & \cdots & w_{I_n^k} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \text{where } w_J = \frac{\det X_J}{\det X_I}$$

*Proof.* Recall that if  $\operatorname{Adj}(X_I)$  is the adjugate matrix of  $X_I$  then

$$(X_I)^{-1} = \frac{1}{\det X_I} \operatorname{Adj} (X_I) = \frac{1}{\det X_I} \left( (-1)^{i+j} \det (X_I)_{\times j \times i} \right)_{\substack{1 \le i \le k \\ 1 \le j \le k}}.$$

We can verify the identity for each element:

$$\frac{(\operatorname{Adj}(X_I)X)_{i,j}}{\det X_I} = \frac{1}{\det X_I} \sum_{\ell=1}^k \left( (-1)^{i+\ell} \det (X_I)_{\times \ell, \times i} \right) x_{\ell,j} = \frac{\det X_{I_j^i}}{\det X_I} = w_{I_j^i}.$$

Remark 3.15.  $(X_I^{-1}X)_J = X_I^{-1}X_J$ , in particular  $(X_I^{-1}X)_I$  is the identity matrix.

**Proposition 3.16.**  $\operatorname{Gr}_{I}(k,n)$  is isomorphic to  $\mathbb{A}_{\mathbb{K}}^{k(n-k)}$  as a scheme.

*Proof.* Since both schemes are affine, it is enough to show that their coordinate rings are isomorphic. Without loss of generality we may assume that  $I = (1, \dots, k)$ . For brevity we set  $w_J = \frac{\det X_J}{\det X_I}$ .

Let M be the formal matrix whose (i, j)-entry is  $w_{I_j^i}$ . Lemma (3.14) shows that  $M = X_I^{-1}X$ , so det  $M_J = \det X_I^{-1} \det X_J = w_J$ . This shows that

$$\mathbb{K}\left[\frac{\det X_J}{\det X_I} \mid J \in \omega(k,n)\right] = \mathbb{K}\left[\frac{\det X_J}{\det X_I} \mid J = I_{\ell_j}^j, \ j \in \{1,\cdots,k\}, \ \ell_j \notin I\right].$$

Let R denote this ring. To conclude we want to show that it is isomorphic to  $\mathbb{K}[Y_{k,n-k}] = \mathbb{K}[y_{1,1}, \cdots, y_{k,n-k}].$ 

Let us consider the following ring homomorphism

$$\chi: \begin{array}{ccc} \mathbb{K}[Y_{k,n-k}] & \longrightarrow & R \\ y_{i,j} & \longmapsto & w_{I^i_{j+k}} \end{array}$$

It is surjective by construction, so we just need to show that it is injective to find the desired isomorphism.

Suppose that there exists a nonzero polynomial  $p \in \mathbb{K}[Y_{k,n-k}]$  which maps to 0. If  $\overline{\mathbb{K}}$  is an algebraic closure<sup>1</sup> of  $\mathbb{K}$  we can consider the lift

$$\widetilde{\chi}: \begin{array}{ccc} \overline{\mathbb{K}}[Y_{k,n-k}] & \longrightarrow & R = \overline{\mathbb{K}}[w_{I_j^i}] \\ y_{i,j} & \longmapsto & w_{I_{i+k}^i} \end{array}$$

Note that if  $\chi(p) = 0$  then  $\tilde{\chi}(p) = 0$  because  $R \subseteq \tilde{R}$  and  $\tilde{\chi}|_{\mathbb{K}[Y_{k,n-k}]} = \chi$ . Consider now any matrix of the form

$$A = \left(I_k \mid \widetilde{A}\right) = (a_{i,j})_{i,j}$$

where  $I_k$  is the  $k \times k$  identity matrix and  $\widetilde{A} \in \mathcal{M}(k, n-k, \overline{\mathbb{K}})$ . From what we have said above it follows that det  $A_{I_i^i} = a_{i,j}$ , so

$$p(\widetilde{A}) = p\left(\left(\det A_{I_j^i}\right)_{\substack{i \in \{1, \cdots, k\}, \\ j \in \{k+1, \cdots, n\}}}\right) = \widetilde{\chi}(p)(A) = 0.$$

This shows that p has infinitely many roots in  $\overline{K}$ , so if we fix the value of k(n-k)-1 indeterminates the resulting polynomial is the 0 polynomial. If we reiterate this reasoning we eventually prove that p = 0 in  $\overline{\mathbb{K}}[Y_{k,n-k}]$ , but  $0 \in \mathbb{K}[Y_{k,n-k}] \subseteq \overline{\mathbb{K}}[Y_{k,n-k}]$ , so p is the zero polynomial in the original ring, contradicting our hypothesis.

Remark 3.17. Since  $\operatorname{Gr}_I(k, n)$  and  $\operatorname{Gr}_J(k, n)$  are affine and  $\operatorname{Gr}(k, n)$  is projective and thus separated,  $\operatorname{Gr}_I(k, n) \cap \operatorname{Gr}_J(k, n)$  is affine for any choice of multiindices.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>we can take any field extension  $\mathbb{K} \subseteq \mathbb{F}$  where  $\mathbb{F}$  is an infinite field.

## 3.2 Grassmannian moduli problem

Let us consider the following moduli problem

$$\mathfrak{Gr}(k,n): \begin{array}{ccc} (\mathrm{Sch}/\mathbb{K})^{op} & \longrightarrow & \mathrm{Set} \\ T & \longmapsto & \{\alpha: \mathcal{O}_T^n \twoheadrightarrow Q\}_{\nearrow} \\ f: S \to T & \longmapsto & (\alpha: \mathcal{O}_T^n \to Q) \mapsto (f^*\alpha: \mathcal{O}_S^n \to f^*Q) \end{array}$$

where Q is a locally free sheaf of rank k on T and two surjections  $\alpha : \mathcal{O}_T^n \twoheadrightarrow Q, \beta : \mathcal{O}_T^n \twoheadrightarrow V$  are equivalent if and only if there exist an isomorphism of sheaves  $\theta : Q \to V$  such that the diagram commutes

We have functoriality because of the composition properties of pullbacks.

Remark 3.18. This functor formalizes the classification problem of (n - k)-dimensional subspaces of an *n*-dimensional space. Indeed

$$\mathfrak{Gr}(k,n)(\operatorname{Spec}\mathbb{K}) = \left\{ \alpha : \mathcal{O}^n_{\operatorname{Spec}\mathbb{K}} \twoheadrightarrow Q \right\}_{\nearrow} \cong \left\{ \varphi : \mathbb{K}^n \twoheadrightarrow \mathbb{K}^k \right\}_{\backsim} = \operatorname{Gr}(k,n)(\mathbb{K})$$

For the middle isomorphism we used the fact that sheaves over a point are skyscrapers and that  $\mathcal{O}_{\text{Spec }\mathbb{K},\text{Spec }\mathbb{K}} = \mathbb{K}$ . The last equality is our first definition for the Grassmannian up to the choice of a basis.

Remark 3.19. We could have defined the moduli problem equivalently as follows:

indeed the following is the data of a natural isomorphism

$$\begin{array}{cccc} \mathfrak{Gr}(k,n)(T) & \longleftrightarrow & \mathfrak{Gr}'(n-k,n)(T) \\ [q:\mathcal{O}_T^n \twoheadrightarrow Q] & \longmapsto & \ker q \\ [\mathcal{O}_T^n \to \mathcal{O}_T^n/\mathcal{F}] & \longleftarrow & \mathcal{F} \end{array}$$

We chose to adopt the first definition because it is easier to verify whether a map is a valid quotient (as in, we do not need to compute a quotient sheaf) and because the first definition generalizes well to objects like the functor of quotients, which we will introduce in the next chapter.

In this section we prove that the Grassmann scheme is a fine moduli space for the Grassmannian moduli problem.

#### 3.2.1 Open subfunctor cover of the Grassmannian

Notation 3.20. For any multiindex  $I \in \omega(k, n)$  and any scheme T we define the following morphism of sheaves

$$s_I^T: \begin{array}{ccc} \mathcal{O}_T^k & \longrightarrow & \mathcal{O}_T^n \\ e_j & \longmapsto & e_{i_j} \end{array}$$

If there is no ambiguity we write  $s_I$ .

**Definition 3.21** (Principal subfunctors of the Grassmannian). Fixed a multiindex  $I \in \omega(k, n)$  we define the following functor

where the equivalence relation is the same as the one defined for  $\mathfrak{Gr}(k, n)$ .

**Proposition 3.22.** The functor  $\mathfrak{Gr}_I(k,n)$  is well defined.

*Proof.* First we observe that  $\mathfrak{Gr}_I(k,n)(T)$  is well defined because if  $\psi = \theta \circ \alpha$  with  $\theta$  isomorphism of sheaves then on each stalk we have

$$\psi_x \circ (s_I)_x = \theta_x \circ \varphi_x \circ (s_I)_x,$$

which is surjective if and only if  $\varphi_x \circ (s_I)_x$  is surjective.

Consider now a morphism  $f: S \to T$ , then

$$f^*\alpha \circ s_I^S = f^*\alpha \circ f^*s_I^T = f^*(\alpha \circ s_I^T)$$

is surjective if and only if it is surjective on all stalks, i.e. if and only if for all  $s \in S$  we have that the following map is surjective

$$f^*(\alpha \circ s_I^T)_s = (\alpha \circ s_I^T)_{f(s)} \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_{T,f(s)}} id_{\mathcal{O}_{S,s}},$$

which is true because the tensor product is right-exact.

**Proposition 3.23.** The  $\mathfrak{Gr}_I(k,n)$  are open subfunctors of  $\mathfrak{Gr}(k,n)$ .

*Proof.* The inclusion  $\mathfrak{Gr}_I(k,n)(T) \subseteq \mathfrak{Gr}(k,n)(T)$  is apparent, so we just need to show that if we fix a quotient  $[\alpha : \mathcal{O}_T^n \twoheadrightarrow Q]$  in  $\mathfrak{Gr}(k,n)(T)$  then we can find an open subscheme of T which represents  $h_T \times_{\mathfrak{Gr}(k,n)} \mathfrak{Gr}_I(k,n)$ .

Let us fix a representative  $\alpha$  for the given quotient. The locus where  $\alpha \circ s_I : \mathcal{O}_T^k \to Q$  is surjective is the complement of the support of its cokernel sheaf  $\mathcal{K}$ , i.e.

 $(\alpha \circ s_I)_x$  surjective  $\iff x \notin \operatorname{Supp} \mathcal{K}.$ 

Note that by the definition of ~ and properties of isomorphisms of sheaves, the first condition does not depend of the choice of representative for  $[\alpha]$ , so  $\operatorname{Supp} \mathcal{K}$  only depends on  $[\alpha]$ . Note that  $\mathcal{K}$  is of finite type because the codomains are locally free of finite rank, so  $\operatorname{Supp} \mathcal{K}$  is closed<sup>2</sup> and hence  $U_I = T \setminus \operatorname{Supp} \mathcal{K}$  is open.

We now want to show that  $U_I$  represents the functor  $h_T \times_{\mathfrak{Gr}(k,n)} \mathfrak{Gr}_I(k,n)$ , that is we want to show that if  $f: S \to T$  is a morphism of  $\mathbb{K}$ -schemes then f factors through  $U_I$  if and only if  $[f^*\alpha: \mathcal{O}_S^n \to f^*Q] \in \operatorname{Gr}_I(S).$ 

Note that  $f(s) \in U_I$  if and only if  $(\alpha \circ s_I^T)_{f(s)}$  is surjective which, by Nakayama's lemma applied to the cokernels, is equivalent to the surjectivity of

$$(\alpha \circ s_I^T)|_{f(s)} : k(f(s))^n \to Q_{f(s)} \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_{T,f(s)}} k(f(s)).$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>For more detail see Section 01B4 in [Sta24]

Observe that, up to standard identifications,

$$\begin{aligned} f^*(\alpha \circ s_I^T)|_s =& f^*(\alpha \circ s_I^T)_s \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_{S,s}} id_{k(s)} = \\ &= ((\alpha \circ s_I^T)_{f(s)} \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_{T,f(s)}} id_{\mathcal{O}_{S,s}}) \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_{S,s}} id_{k(s)} = \\ &= (\alpha \circ s_I^T)_{f(s)} \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_{T,f(s)}} id_{k(s)} = \\ &= ((\alpha \circ s_I^T)_{f(s)} \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_{T,f(s)}} id_{k(f(s))}) \otimes_{k(f(s))} id_{k(s)} = \\ &= (\alpha \circ s_I^T)|_{f(s)} \otimes_{k(f(s))} id_{k(s)}. \end{aligned}$$

Note that we used the fact that  $\mathcal{O}_{T,f(s)} \to \mathcal{O}_{S,s} \to k(s) = \mathcal{O}_{T,f(s)} \to k(f(s)) \to k(s)$ . Since field extensions do not change the rank of linear maps, this shows that

$$f^*(\alpha \circ s_I^T)|_s$$
 is surjective  $\iff (\alpha \circ s_I^T)|_{f(s)}$  is surjective.

By Nakayama's lemma we can again consider equivalently  $f^*(\alpha \circ s_I^T)_s = (f^*\alpha)_s \circ (s_I^S)_s$ .

We have thus shown that  $f(s) \in U_I$  if and only if  $(f^*\alpha)_s \circ (s_I^S)_s$  is surjective, i.e. f factors through  $U_I$  if and only if  $(f^*\alpha) \circ s_I^S$  is surjective, i.e.  $f^*\alpha \in \mathfrak{Gr}_I(k,n)(S)$ .

**Proposition 3.24.** The collection  $\{\mathfrak{Gr}_I(k,n)\}$  is an open cover of  $\mathfrak{Gr}(k,n)$ .

*Proof.* For any K-scheme S and any quotient  $[\alpha] \in Gr(k, n)(S)$  (without loss of generality we choose a representative  $\alpha$ ) we need to show that for any  $s \in S$  there exists a multiindex I such that  $s \in U_I$  defined as in the previous proposition.

We are therefore looking for a multiindex I such that  $(\alpha \circ s_I)_s$  is surjective. By Nakayama's lemma this is equivalent to showing that there exists an I such that

$$k(s)^k \xrightarrow{s_I} k(s)^n \xrightarrow{\alpha_s} Q_s \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_{S_s}} k(s)$$

is surjective, which is trivially true since rnk  $\alpha_s = k$ .

#### 3.2.2 Representability of the Grassmannian functor

**Lemma 3.25.** Let T be a scheme and  $[\alpha : \mathcal{O}_T^n \twoheadrightarrow Q], [\beta : \mathcal{O}_T^n \twoheadrightarrow Q'] \in \mathfrak{Gr}(k, n)$ . If  $[\alpha] = [\beta]$  then the isomorphism  $\theta : Q \to Q'$  such that  $\beta = \theta \circ \alpha$  is unique.

*Proof.* First, observe that if  $\alpha = \beta$  then by surjectivity and commutativity  $\theta = id_Q$ . Let  $\theta, \eta : Q \to Q'$  be isomorphisms such that  $\beta = \theta \circ \alpha$  and  $\beta = \eta \circ \alpha$ . Then  $\theta^{-1} \circ \eta : Q \to Q$  is an isomorphism such that  $\theta^{-1} \circ \eta \circ \alpha = \theta^{-1} \circ \beta = \alpha$ , so  $\theta^{-1} \circ \eta = id_Q$  and thus  $\theta = \eta$ .

**Proposition 3.26.** The Grassmannian functor  $\mathfrak{Gr}(k,n)$  is a Zariski sheaf.

*Proof.* Consider a K-scheme T and an open cover  $\{U_i \to T\}$ . Let  $\alpha_i : \mathcal{O}_{U_i}^n \twoheadrightarrow Q_i$  be representatives of quotients such that

$$\alpha_i\big|_{U_i\cap U_j}\sim \alpha_j\big|_{U_i\cap U_j}.$$

Because of lemma (3.25), the isomorphism giving the equivalence above is unique. Let  $\varphi_{ji}$ :  $Q_i|_{U_i \cap U_j} \rightarrow Q_j|_{U_i \cap U_j}$  be this isomorphism. Because of the uniqueness  $\varphi_{ii} = id_{Q_i}$  and  $\varphi_{ki} = \varphi_{kj} \circ \varphi_{ji}$ , so we have the data to glue the  $Q_i$  to a locally free sheaf of rank k over T, which we denote by Q.

By construction  $\alpha_i : \mathcal{O}_{U_i}^n \to Q|_{U_i}$  for all i. Let  $V \subseteq T$  be an open subset. For any section  $s \in \mathcal{O}_T^n(V)$  we can define  $\alpha_V(s)$  by gluing the  $(\alpha_i)_V(s|_{U_i})$ , which we can do by construction<sup>3</sup> of Q. It is well known that a sheaf morphism is determined by its restrictions to open sets.  $\Box$ 

**Proposition 3.27.** The affine scheme  $\operatorname{Gr}_{I}(k,n)$  represents  $\mathfrak{Gr}_{I}(k,n)$ .

*Proof.* First we prove that for any K-scheme T,  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{Sch}/\mathbb{K}}(T, \operatorname{Gr}_{I}(k, n)) \cong \mathfrak{Gr}_{I}(T)$ , then we need to check naturality.

By definition  $\operatorname{Gr}_I(k,n) = \operatorname{Spec}\left(\mathbb{K}\left[\frac{\det X_J}{\det X_I}\right]\right)$ , so

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{Sch}/\mathbb{K}}(T,\operatorname{Gr}_{I}(k,n)) \cong \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{K}\operatorname{-alg}}\left(\mathbb{K}\left[\frac{\det X_{J}}{\det X_{I}}\right],\mathcal{O}_{T}(T)\right)$$

For a map  $\alpha : \mathcal{O}_T^n \to \mathcal{O}_T^k$ , we define M(U) as the matrix which represents  $\alpha_U : \mathcal{O}_T^n(U) \to \mathcal{O}_T^k(U)$ in the canonical bases. We define the following maps

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{K}\operatorname{-alg}}\left(\mathbb{K}\left[\frac{\det X_{J}}{\det X_{I}}\right], \mathcal{O}_{T}(T)\right) \quad \longleftrightarrow \quad \left\{\alpha : \mathcal{O}_{T}^{n} \to \mathcal{O}_{T}^{k} \mid \alpha \circ s_{I} = id_{\mathcal{O}_{T}^{k}}\right\}$$
$$\begin{array}{ccc} \varphi & \longmapsto & \eta(\varphi) \\ \rho(\alpha) : \frac{\det X_{J}}{\det X_{I}} \mapsto \frac{\det(M(T))_{J}}{\det(M(T))_{I}} & \longleftarrow & \alpha \end{array}$$

where  $\eta(\varphi)$  is defined on an open subset V of T by

$$\eta(\varphi)_V(e_j) = \sum_{i=1}^k (\operatorname{res}_V^T \circ \varphi) \left( \frac{\det X_{I_j^i}}{\det X_I} \right) e_r \stackrel{(3.14)}{=} (\operatorname{res}_V^T \circ \varphi) \left( X_I^{-1} X \right) e_j.$$

The maps are well defined because  $\alpha \circ s_I = id_{\mathcal{O}_T^k} \iff M(T)_I = I_k$  and

$$\frac{\det X_{I_{i_s}^r}}{\det X_I} = \delta_{r,s} \implies \eta(\varphi) \circ s_I = id_{\mathcal{O}_T^k}.$$

We can see that  $\eta$  and  $\rho$  are inverses via the following computations:

$$\operatorname{res}_{V}^{T} \circ \rho(\alpha)(X_{I}^{-1}X) = \operatorname{res}_{V}^{T}(M(T)_{I}^{-1}M(T)) = \operatorname{res}_{V}^{T}(I_{k}^{-1}M(T)) = M(V),$$

$$\rho(\eta(\varphi))\left(\frac{\det X_{J}}{\det X_{I}}\right) = \frac{\det((\operatorname{res}_{T}^{T} \circ \varphi)\left(X_{I}^{-1}X\right)_{J})}{1} =$$

$$=\varphi(\det((X_{I}^{-1}X)_{J})) = \varphi\left(\frac{\det X_{J}}{\det X_{I}}\right).$$

Observe now that

$$\begin{cases} \alpha: \mathcal{O}_T^n \to \mathcal{O}_T^k \mid \alpha \circ s_I = id_{\mathcal{O}_T^k} \end{cases} &\longleftrightarrow \quad \{\alpha: \mathcal{O}_T^n \twoheadrightarrow Q \mid \alpha \circ s_I \text{ isomorphism} \}_{\nearrow} \\ \alpha & \longmapsto & [\alpha] \\ (\beta \circ s_I)^{-1} \circ \beta & \longleftrightarrow & [\beta] \end{cases}$$

<sup>3</sup>More precisely, the  $\varphi_{ji}$  are the gluing functions on Q and

$$\alpha_j(s|_{U_j})|_{U_i \cap U_j} = \alpha_j(s|_{U_i \cap U_j}) = \varphi_{ji} \circ \alpha_i(s|_{U_i \cap U_j}) = \varphi_{ji}(\alpha_j(s|_{U_j})|_{U_i \cap U_j})$$

is a bijection. The second map is well defined because if  $\beta = \theta \circ \beta'$  then

$$(\beta \circ s_I)^{-1} \circ \beta = (\beta' \circ s_I)^{-1} \circ \theta^{-1} \circ \theta \circ \beta' = (\beta' \circ s_I)^{-1} \circ \beta'$$

and they are inverses because  $\beta \sim (\beta \circ s_I)^{-1} \circ \beta$  by definition of  $\sim$  and if  $\alpha \circ s_I = id_{\mathcal{O}_T^k}$  then  $(\alpha \circ s_I)^{-1} \circ \alpha = \alpha$ . We conclude by noticing that

$$\{\alpha: \mathcal{O}_T^n \twoheadrightarrow Q \mid \alpha \circ s_I \text{ isomorphism}\}_{\nearrow} = \{\alpha: \mathcal{O}_T^n \twoheadrightarrow Q \mid \alpha \circ s_I \text{ surjective}\}_{\nearrow}$$

because on all stalks  $\alpha \circ s_I$  is an endomorphism of finitely generated modules.

To prove naturality we consider a morphism  $f: S \to T$  of K-schemes. Recall that

$$\begin{array}{ccc} \mathfrak{Gr}_I(k,n)(T) & \longrightarrow & \mathfrak{Gr}_I(k,n)(S) \\ [\alpha] & \longmapsto & [f^*\alpha] \end{array}$$

Under the bijection above, imposing naturality gives

$$\begin{cases} \alpha: \mathcal{O}_T^n \to \mathcal{O}_T^k \mid \alpha \circ s_I = id_{\mathcal{O}_T^k} \end{cases} & \longrightarrow & \left\{ \beta: \mathcal{O}_S^n \to \mathcal{O}_S^k \mid \beta \circ s_I = id_{\mathcal{O}_S^k} \right\} \\ \alpha & \longmapsto & f^* \alpha \end{cases}$$

since  $f^* \alpha \circ s_I^S = f^*(\alpha \circ s_I^T) = f^*(id_{\mathcal{O}_T^k}) = id_{\mathcal{O}_S^k}$ . If we impose naturality again we get

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{K}\operatorname{-alg}}\left(\mathbb{K}\left[\frac{\det X_J}{\det X_I}\right], \mathcal{O}_T(T)\right) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{K}\operatorname{-alg}}\left(\mathbb{K}\left[\frac{\det X_J}{\det X_I}\right], \mathcal{O}_S(S)\right)$$
$$\varphi \longmapsto \rho(f^*\eta(\varphi))$$

We claim that  $\rho(f^*(\eta(\varphi))) = f^{\#}(T) \circ \varphi$ . Since  $\eta$  is the inverse of  $\rho$ , it is enough to prove that  $f^*(\eta(\varphi)) = \eta(f^{\#}(T) \circ \varphi)$ . Equality holds because for all  $s \in S$  both of the maps induced on stalks are represented by the matrix

$$f_s^{\#}\left(\left(\varphi(X_I^{-1}X)\right)_{f(s)}\right).$$

We conclude by recalling that the following diagram commutes

**Theorem 3.28.** The Grassmann scheme Gr(k, n) is a fine moduli space for the Grassmann functor  $\mathfrak{Gr}(k, n)$ .

*Proof.* We know that  $\{\mathfrak{Gr}_I(k,n) \to \mathfrak{Gr}(k,n)\}$  is an open cover (3.24), that the functor  $\mathfrak{Gr}(k,n)$  is a Zariski sheaf (3.26) and that  $h_{\mathrm{Gr}_I(k,n)} \cong \mathfrak{Gr}_I(k,n)$  (3.27). If we can show that these isomorphisms restrict well to double intersections we have the desired result by proposition (1.36).

Let T be a scheme and let us consider a morphism

$$f \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{Sch}/\mathbb{K}}(T, \operatorname{Gr}_{I}(k, n) \cap \operatorname{Gr}_{J}(k, n)) = \operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{Sch}/\mathbb{K}}(T, \operatorname{Gr}(k, n)_{z_{I}z_{J}}).$$

Applying a standard result for morphisms towards an affine scheme<sup>4</sup> we get

$$f^{\#}(T) \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{K}-\operatorname{alg}}\left(\left(\mathbb{K}\left[\det X_{L}\right]_{\det X_{I}}\det X_{J}\right)^{0}, \mathcal{O}_{T}(T)\right)$$

By the universal property of localization, we may identify this set with

$$\left\{\beta \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{K}\text{-}\operatorname{alg}}\left(\mathbb{K}\left[\frac{\det X_L}{\det X_I}\right], \mathcal{O}_T(T)\right) \mid \beta\left(\frac{\det X_J}{\det X_I}\right) \in \mathcal{O}_T(T)^*\right\}.$$

Applying the functor  $\eta$  defined during the proof of proposition (3.27), which we will denote  $\eta^{I}$  to emphasize which determinant we consider at the denominator, we obtain<sup>5</sup>

 $\eta^{I}(f^{\#}(T)) \in \left\{ \alpha : \mathcal{O}_{T}^{n} \to \mathcal{O}_{T}^{k} \mid \alpha \circ s_{I} = id_{\mathcal{O}_{T}^{k}}, \ \alpha \circ s_{J} \text{ isomorphism} \right\}.$ 

Observe that we can identify this set with

$$\{\alpha: \mathcal{O}_T^n \to Q \mid \alpha \circ s_I, \ \alpha \circ s_J \text{ surjective}\}/_{\sim} = (\mathfrak{Gr}_I(k, n) \times_{\mathfrak{Gr}(k, n)} \mathfrak{Gr}_J(k, n))(T),$$

so to conclude the proof we just need to verify that  $\eta^{I}(f^{\#}(T)) \sim \eta^{J}(f^{\#}(T))$  in  $\mathfrak{Gr}(k, n)$ . By lemma (3.14), the matrix  $X_{J}^{-1}X_{I}$  can be described only using elements in the ring  $\mathbb{K} [\det X_{L}]_{\det X_{I} \det X_{J}}^{0}$ . We can thus define  $\theta$  by setting  $\theta_{V}(e_{j}) = f^{\#}(V)(X_{J}^{-1}X_{I})e_{j}$ . It is clear by construction that  $\theta \circ \eta^{I}(f^{\#}(T)) = \eta^{J}(f^{\#}(T))$ . Defining  $\delta$  from  $X_{I}^{-1}X_{J}$  analogously yields an inverse of  $\theta$ , realizing the sought out equivalence.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>see remark (3.17).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>the condition on the image of  $\frac{\det X_J}{\det X_I}$  corresponds to  $\det(\alpha \circ s_J)$  being invertible, and thus to  $\alpha \circ s_J$  being an isomorphism.

# Chapter 4

# Quot and Hilbert schemes

In the definition of the Grassmannian moduli problem the concept of quotient sheaves turned out to be instrumental. Since we have only considered quotients that are vector bundles of a fixed rank k, a natural next step might be to generalize the construction to general coherent sheaves. This generalization has proven itself to be vital in the construction of many fine moduli spaces, the most important example being the Hilbert schemes. The representability of both the functor of quotients and the Hilbert moduli problem were proven by Grothendieck in [Gro61].

In this chapter we will present a proof of the representability of a particular class of functors of quotients while taking most technical results about Castelnuovo-Mumford regularity, flat base change and flattening stratifications as a given. Along the way we will show some examples of how this problem is related to the one of Hilbert schemes and Grassmannians. Our approach will follow closely the one given in [Alp24] and [FGI<sup>+</sup>06].

We will usually consider our base scheme to be  $\text{Spec } \mathbb{K}$  for consistency with our work from the previous chapters. For simplicity we will sometimes write  $\mathbb{K}$  instead of  $\text{Spec } \mathbb{K}$ .

**Notation 4.1.** If T is a scheme we use  $\pi_T$  to denote the structure map  $\mathbb{P}^n_T \to T$ . When  $T = \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{K}$  we omit the subscript.

**Notation 4.2.** If X and T are S-schemes we write the base change of X as  $X_T = X \times_S T$ . With this notation we imply that we are considering  $X_T$  as a T-scheme.

### 4.1 Functor of quotients

**Definition 4.3** (Functor of quotients). Let S be a noetherian scheme and let  $X \to S$  be a morphism of finite type. Let  $\mathcal{E}$  be a coherent sheaf on X. If  $T \in \operatorname{Sch}/S$ , a **family of quotients** of  $\mathcal{E}$  **parameterized by** T (or **over** T) is a surjective sheaf morphism<sup>1</sup>  $q : \mathcal{E}_T \to Q$  where  $\mathcal{E}_T$  is the pullback of  $\mathcal{E}$  under  $X_T \to X$  and Q is a quasi-coherent locally finitely presented sheaf on  $X_T$  which is flat over T and whose support is proper over T.

Two families of quotients q and q' are said to be equivalent, written  $q \sim q'$ , if ker  $q = \ker q'$ . We denote the equivalence class [q] or more explicitly  $[q : \mathcal{E}_T \to Q]$ . We define the **functor of** 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>we will usually simply state " $q : \mathcal{E}_T \to Q$  is a quasi-coherent locally finitely presented quotient sheaf flat over T with proper support".

#### quotients of $\mathcal{E}$ over the base S as

$$\begin{array}{cccc} \operatorname{Sch}/S^{op} & \longrightarrow & \operatorname{Set} \\ \operatorname{\mathfrak{Quot}}_{\mathcal{E}/X/S} : & T & \longmapsto & \{[q] \mid q \text{ family of quotients of } \mathcal{E} \text{ over } T\} \\ f:T' \to T & \longmapsto & [q:\mathcal{E}_T \to Q] \mapsto f^*[q] = [f^*q:\mathcal{E}_{T'} \to f^*Q] \end{array}$$

*Remark* 4.4. The functor is well defined because properness, flatness, quasi-coherence and finite local presentation are preserved under base change (so  $f^*Q$  is a valid output) and the tensor product is right exact, so surjectivity of the maps is also preserved.

Remark 4.5. A family of quotients over a locally noetherian scheme  $q: \mathcal{E}_T \to Q$  is such that Q is coherent. We can restrict to considering this case for local considerations in the following way:

- all commutative rings are the colimit of their subrings which are finitely generated Z-algebras, i.e. they are the colimit of noetherian rings
- it follows that affine schemes are the limit of noetherian affine schemes
- all schemes are locally affine by definition
- the locally finitely presented sheaves over an affine scheme  $\operatorname{Spec} A = \lim \operatorname{Spec} A_i$  can be obtained as the colimit of the locally finitely presented sheaves over each  $\operatorname{Spec} A_i$ .

Because of this we will implicitly consider the schemes in the following sections to be locally noetherian when checking for local conditions.

#### 4.1.1 Stratification by Hilbert polynomials

**Notation 4.6.** If a line bundle  $\mathcal{L}$  on X is fixed and  $\mathcal{F}$  is a quasi-coherent sheaf on X we denote the *r*-twist  $\mathcal{F} \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_X} \mathcal{L}^{\otimes r}$  as  $\mathcal{F}(r)$  for all integers r.

**Definition 4.7** (Euler characteristic of a sheaf). Let X be a closed subscheme of  $\mathbb{P}^n_{\mathbb{K}}$ . If  $\mathcal{F}$  is a coherent sheaf on X with proper support over  $\mathbb{K}$  we define the **Euler characteristic** of  $\mathcal{F}$  as

$$\chi(\mathcal{F}) = \sum_{i \ge 0} (-1)^i \dim_{\mathbb{K}} H^i(X, \mathcal{F}).$$

It is a well known result that, given our hypotheses, this sum is finite. See Theorem III.2.7 from [Har77].

**Theorem 4.8** (Snapper's lemma). If we fix a line bundle  $\mathcal{L}$ , the map  $r \mapsto \chi(\mathcal{F}(r))$  defines a polynomial  $\Phi(\lambda) \in \mathbb{Q}[\lambda]$ , which is called the **Hilbert polynomial** of the sheaf  $\mathcal{F}$ .

Proof. See Theorem B.7, page 314 of [FGI<sup>+</sup>06].

Remark 4.9. If  $\mathcal{L}$  is ample and r is sufficiently large,  $\Phi(r) = \dim_{\mathbb{K}} H^0(X, \mathcal{F}(r))$ . This follows from Serre's vanishing theorem (proposition III.5.3 in [Har77]).

We are interested in Hilbert polynomials because of the following property

**Theorem 4.10.** Let  $X \to S$  be a proper morphism of noetherian schemes,  $\mathcal{L}$  a line bundle on X and  $\mathcal{F}$  a coherent sheaf on X with proper support and flat over S. For all  $s \in S$  let  $X_s$  be the fiber of s. We define  $\Phi_s$  to be the Hilbert polynomial of  $\mathcal{F}_{|_{X_s}}$  calculated with respect to the line bundle  $\mathcal{L}_{|_{X_s}}$ . The function

$$\begin{array}{cccc} S & \longrightarrow & \mathbb{Z} \\ s & \longmapsto & \Phi_s(r) \end{array}$$

is locally constant for all  $r \in \mathbb{Z}$ .

*Proof.* This is Theorem A.6.4 in [Alp24].

Because of this, we can decompose the functor of quotients as the following coproduct

$$\mathfrak{Quot}_{\mathcal{E}/X/S} = \coprod_{\Phi \in \mathbb{Q}[\lambda]} \mathfrak{Quot}_{\mathcal{E}/X/S}^{\Phi, \mathcal{L}}, \text{ where }$$

 $\mathfrak{Quot}_{\mathcal{E}/\mathcal{K}/\mathcal{S}}^{\Phi,\mathcal{L}}(T) = \{ \text{families of quotients over } T \text{ such that } \forall t \in T, \Phi_t = \Phi \}_{\sim}.$ 

#### 4.1.2 Special cases of the functor of quotients

This finer decomposition allows us to formalize how the Grassmannian moduli problem is a special case of the functor of quotients.

**Proposition 4.11.** We have the equality

$$\mathfrak{Gr}(k,n)=\mathfrak{Quot}_{\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{K}}^{n}/\mathbb{K}/\mathbb{K}}^{k,\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{K}}}$$

*Proof.* The pullbacks and equivalence relations are defined in the same way, so it is enough to show that they agree when evaluated on a  $\mathbb{K}$ -scheme T. It is clear that  $(\mathcal{O}^n_{\mathbb{K}})_T = \mathcal{O}^n_T$  so we just need to show that  $\mathcal{F}$  has Hilbert polynomial k with respect to the line bundle  $\mathcal{O}_T$  and is flat over T if and only if  $\mathcal{F}$  if a vector bundle or rank k over  $(\operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{K})_T$ .

 $\implies \text{If } \mathcal{F} \text{ is coherent and flat over } T \text{ then}^2 \text{ it is locally free over } T \text{ and since } T \cong (\operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{K})_T, \mathcal{F} \text{ is locally free over } (\operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{K})_T. \text{ Because } T \cong (\operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{K})_T, \text{ the fibers } (\operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{K})_t \text{ are points and so } \mathcal{F}|_{(\operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{K})_t} = \mathcal{F}_t. \text{ By assumption, the Hilbert polynomial of this sheaf is } k \text{ for all } t \in T, \text{ so } T$ 

 $k = \dim_{\mathbb{K}} H^0(\operatorname{Spec} k(t), \mathcal{F}_t(r)) = \operatorname{rnk} \mathcal{F}_t(r) \text{ for large } r.$ 

Since  $\mathcal{L}_T = \mathcal{O}_T$  we have  $\mathcal{F}_t(r) \cong \mathcal{F}_t$ , so rnk  $\mathcal{F}_t = k$  for all  $t \in T$ , i.e.  $\mathcal{F}$  is a locally free sheaf of rank k.

A locally free sheaf of rank k on T is obviously coherent and flat over T. Since  $\mathcal{L}$  in our case is the trivial line bundle,  $\mathcal{F}_t \otimes \mathcal{O}_{k(t)}^{\otimes r} \cong \mathcal{F}_t$ , so  $\Phi_t(r)$  cannot depend on r and is therefore a constant polynomial. Let  $d_t$  be the value of  $\Phi_t$ . Since rnk  $\mathcal{F}_t = \operatorname{rnk} \mathcal{F}_t(r)$ , for large r we have

 $d_t = \Phi_t(r) = \dim_{\mathbb{K}} H^0(\operatorname{Spec} k(t), \mathcal{F}_t(r)) = \operatorname{rnk} \mathcal{F}_t = k,$ 

so for all fibers,  $\Phi_t$  is the constant polynomial k.

Now we define the Hilbert moduli problem and show how it relates to the functor of quotients:

**Definition 4.12** (Hilbert functor). Let X be a closed subscheme of  $\mathbb{P}^n_{\mathbb{K}}$ . If T is a scheme, a **family** of subschemes of X is a closed subscheme  $Y \subseteq X \times T$  such that Y is flat and finitely presented over T. We can define the **Hilbert functor of** X as

$$\begin{array}{cccc} (\mathrm{Sch}/\mathbb{K})^{op} & \longrightarrow & \mathrm{Set} \\ \mathfrak{Hilb}_X: & T & \longmapsto & \{Y \subseteq X \times T \mid Y \text{ flat and finitely presented over } T\} \\ & f: T \to S & \longmapsto & Y \subseteq X \times S \mapsto f^*Y = (id_X \times f)^{-1}(Y) \subseteq X \times T \end{array}$$

<sup>2</sup>implication (1)  $\implies$  (6) from Lemma 00NX in [Sta24]

**Proposition 4.13.** We have a canonical identification

$$\mathfrak{Hilb}_X = \mathfrak{Quot}_{\mathcal{O}_X/X/\mathbb{K}}.$$

In particular, we can also define a decomposition of the Hilbert moduli problem in terms of Hilbert polynomials  $^3$ 

$$\mathfrak{H}ilb_{X}^{\Phi,\mathcal{L}}: \qquad \begin{array}{ccc} (\mathrm{Sch}/\mathbb{K})^{op} & \longrightarrow & & \mathrm{Set} \\ \mathfrak{H}ilb_{X}^{\Phi,\mathcal{L}}: & & \\ T & \longmapsto & \left\{ Y \subseteq X \times T \middle| \begin{array}{c} Y \ flat \ and \ finitely \ presented \\ over \ T \ such \ that \ the \ fiber \ Y_t \ has \\ Hilbert \ polynomial \ \Phi \ for \ all \ t \in T \end{array} \right\}$$

*Proof.* There is a well known bijection between closed subschemes of a given scheme and quasicoherent sheaves of ideals on the scheme (Proposition 5.1.15 in [Liu06]). By construction the structure sheaf of Y is finitely presented and flat over T, so the ideal sheaf which defines Y can be expressed as the kernel of the quotient of coherent sheaves  $q : \mathcal{O}_{X_T} \to \mathcal{O}_Y$ . Given how the equivalence of quotients is defined this shows that a class of quotients of  $\mathcal{O}_{X_T}$  corresponds exactly to a family Y, giving us the identification we wanted.

# 4.2 Castelnuovo-Mumford regularity and Flattening stratification

We now introduce the concept of regularity. The original proof of the representability of  $\mathfrak{Quot}$  by Grothendieck in [Gro61] did not make use of this definition. Nevertheless, Castelnuovo-Mumford regularity proved to be the easier method to employ to reach the result and is now the more popular approach.

**Definition 4.14** (*m*-regular sheaves). A coherent sheaf  $\mathcal{F}$  on  $\mathbb{P}^n_{\mathbb{K}}$  is *m*-regular for an integer *m* if for all  $i \geq 1$  we have

$$H^i(\mathbb{P}^n_{\mathbb{K}}, \mathcal{F}(m-i)) = 0.$$

**Lemma 4.15.** Let  $0 \to \mathcal{K} \to \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{Q} \to 0$  be a short exact sequence of coherent sheaves on  $\mathbb{P}^n_{\mathbb{K}}$ , then if  $\mathcal{K}$  is (m+1)-regular and  $\mathcal{E}$  is m-regular then  $\mathcal{Q}$  is m-regular.

*Proof.* Let us fix an integer  $i \ge 1$ . By tensoring with  $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^n_{\mathbb{K}}}(m-i)$  we get an exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow \mathcal{K}(m-i) \longrightarrow \mathcal{E}(m-i) \longrightarrow \mathcal{Q}(m-i) \longrightarrow 0$$

We can conclude by studying the following chunk of the long exact sequence associated to the short one above

$$\begin{aligned} H^{i}(\mathbb{P}^{n}_{\mathbb{K}},\mathcal{E}(m-i)) & \longrightarrow H^{i}(\mathbb{P}^{n}_{\mathbb{K}},\mathcal{Q}(m-i)) & \longrightarrow H^{i+1}(\mathbb{P}^{n}_{\mathbb{K}},\mathcal{K}(m-i)) \\ & \parallel & & \parallel \\ 0 & & 0 \end{aligned}$$

We used the identity m - i = m + 1 - (i + 1) to show that the third term is zero.

The following result was attributed to Castelnuovo by Mumford in [Mum66]

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>the Hilbert polynomial of a closed subscheme is the Hilbert polynomial of its sheaf of ideals.

**Lemma 4.16** (Castelnuovo). Let  $\mathcal{F}$  be an *m*-regular coherent sheaf on  $\mathbb{P}^n_{\mathbb{K}}$ , then the following results hold:

(a) If  $r \ge m$  then the map

$$H^0(\mathbb{P}^n_{\mathbb{K}}, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^n_{\mathbb{K}}}(1)) \otimes H^0(\mathbb{P}^n_{\mathbb{K}}, \mathcal{F}(r)) \to H^0(\mathbb{P}^n_{\mathbb{K}}, \mathcal{F}(r+1))$$

given by the product of sections is surjective.

- (b) If  $r \ge m i$  for  $i \ge 1$  then  $H^i(\mathbb{P}^n_{\mathbb{K}}, \mathcal{F}(r)) = 0$ .
- (c) If  $r \ge m$  then  $\mathcal{F}(r)$  is globally generated and  $H^i(\mathbb{P}^n_{\mathbb{K}}, \mathcal{F}(r)) = 0$  for all  $i \ge 1$ .

*Proof.* This is Lemma 5.1 from  $[FGI^+06]$ .

**Corollary 4.17.** If  $\mathcal{F}$  is m-regular then it is also m'-regular for all  $m' \geq m$ .

*Proof.* This is statement (b) from the lemma where we choose  $r = m' - i \ge m - i$ .

**Theorem 4.18** (Mumford). Let p and n be non-negative integers, then there exists a polynomial  $F_{p,n} \in \mathbb{Z}[x_0, \dots, x_n]$  such that, if  $\mathcal{F}$  is a coherent sheaf on  $\mathbb{P}^n_{\mathbb{K}}$  which is isomorphic to a subsheaf of  $\mathcal{O}^p_{\mathbb{P}^n_n}$  with Hilbert polynomial<sup>4</sup>

$$\chi(\mathcal{F}(r)) = \sum_{i=0}^{n} a_i \binom{r}{i}, \quad a_i \in \mathbb{Z},$$

then  $\mathcal{F}$  is m-regular for  $m = F_{p,n}(a_0, \cdots, a_n)$ .

*Proof.* This is Theorem 5.3 in  $[FGI^+06]$ .

**Proposition 4.19** (Regularity in Families). Let S be a noetherian scheme and let Q be a coherent sheaf on  $\mathbb{P}^n_S$  which is flat over S. Suppose that there exists m > 0 such that for all  $s \in S$ ,  $Q_{|_{\mathbb{P}^n_{k(s)}}}$ 

is m-regular, then for  $r \geq m$ 

1.  $\pi_{S*}Q(r)$  is a vector bundle and, if  $f: T \to S$  is an S-scheme, then we have

$$f^*\pi_{S*}Q(r) \cong \pi_{T*}Q_T(r).$$

- 2. If  $i \geq 1$  the higher direct images  $R^i \pi_{S*}Q(d)$  vanish.
- 3. The morphism  $\pi_S^* \pi_{S*}Q(d) \to Q(d)$  is surjective.

*Proof.* This is Proposition 1.3.18 in [Alp24].

**Theorem 4.20** (Existence of flattening stratifications). Let S be a noetherian scheme and let  $\mathcal{F}$  be a coherent sheaf on  $\mathbb{P}^n_S$ .

- For all polynomials  $\Phi \in \mathbb{Q}[\lambda]$  there exists a locally closed subscheme  $S_{\Phi} \subseteq S$  such that a morphism  $T \to S$  factors through  $S_{\Phi}$  if and only if the pullback  $\mathcal{F}_T$  of  $\mathcal{F}$  to  $\mathbb{P}^n_T$  is flat over T and for all  $t \in T$ ,  $\mathcal{F}_{k(t)}$  has Hilbert polynomial  $\Phi$ .
- There exists a finite subset  $I \subseteq \mathbb{Q}[\lambda]$  such that set-theoretically

$$S = \coprod_{\Phi \in I} S_{\Phi}$$

The closure of S<sub>Φ</sub> in S is a subset of the union U<sub>P≤Q</sub> S<sub>Q</sub>, where P ≤ Q ⇔ P(m) ≤ Q(m) for m ≫ 0.

*Proof.* This is Theorem 5.13 in  $[FGI^+06]$ .

(s)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Recall that every polynomial with rational coefficients can be written in this form uniquely.

### 4.3 The existence theorem

Note that  $\mathfrak{Quot}$  is not always representable<sup>5</sup>. The result that we will show is

**Theorem 4.21.** Let X be a closed subscheme of  $\mathbb{P}^n_{\mathbb{K}}$  for some  $n, \mathcal{L} = \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^n_{\mathbb{K}}}(1)|_X$ ,  $\mathcal{E}$  a coherent quotient of  $\mathcal{O}_X(\nu)^p$  for some integers p and  $\nu$  and  $\Phi \in \mathbb{Q}[\lambda]$ . Then the functor of quotients  $\mathfrak{Quot}_{\mathcal{E}/X/\mathbb{K}}^{\Phi,\mathcal{L}}$  is representable by a scheme  $\operatorname{Quot}_{\mathcal{E}/X/\mathbb{K}}^{\Phi,\mathcal{L}}$ .

This is a specific case of the version showcased in [AK80]. For more historical background see subsection 5.5.2 of [FGI<sup>+</sup>06].

Remark 4.22. If the theorem holds, we can define the Hilbert schemes as

$$\operatorname{Hilb}_{X}^{\Phi,\mathcal{L}} = \operatorname{Quot}_{\mathcal{O}_{X}/X/\mathbb{K}}^{\Phi,\mathcal{L}} \qquad \operatorname{Hilb}_{X} = \coprod_{\Phi \in \mathbb{Q}[\lambda]} \operatorname{Hilb}_{X}^{\Phi,\mathcal{L}}.$$

**Proposition 4.23.** It is enough to prove theorem (4.21) in the case where  $X = \mathbb{P}^n_{\mathbb{K}}$  and  $\mathcal{E} = \mathcal{O}^p_{\mathbb{P}^n_2}$ .

**Lemma 4.24.** If  $\nu$  is an integer then

$$\mathfrak{Quot}^{\Phi,\mathcal{L}}_{\mathcal{E}/X/\mathbb{K}}\cong\mathfrak{Quot}^{\Phi(\lambda+
u),\mathcal{L}}_{\mathcal{E}(
u)/X/\mathbb{K}}$$

*Proof.* The isomorphism is given by tensoring everything with  $\mathcal{L}^{\otimes \nu}$ . Indeed  $\mathcal{E} \otimes \mathcal{L}^{\otimes \nu}$  is the definition of  $\mathcal{E}(\nu)$ ,  $\chi(\mathcal{F} \otimes \mathcal{L}^{\otimes m+\nu}) = \chi((\mathcal{F} \otimes \mathcal{L}^{\otimes \nu}) \otimes \mathcal{L}^{\otimes m})$  and tensoring with a line bundle does nothing to surjectivity, flatness or properness of support.

**Lemma 4.25.** Let  $\phi : \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{G}$  be a surjective morphism of coherent sheaves on X, then this morphism induces a natural transformation

$$\mathfrak{Quot}_{\mathcal{G}/X/\mathbb{K}}^{\Phi,\mathcal{L}} \to \mathfrak{Quot}_{\mathcal{E}/X/\mathbb{K}}^{\Phi,\mathcal{L}}$$

which is a closed immersion.

*Proof.* This is part of lemma 5.17, page 127 in  $[FGI^+06]$ .

Proof of Proposition (4.23). By applying lemma (4.24) we have

$$\mathfrak{Quot}_{\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^n_{\mathbb{K}}}(\nu)^p/\mathbb{P}^n_{\mathbb{K}}/\mathbb{K}}^{\Phi,(\lambda-\nu),\mathcal{L}}\cong\mathfrak{Quot}_{\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^n_{\mathbb{K}}}^p/\mathbb{P}^n_{\mathbb{K}}/\mathbb{K}}^{\Phi(\lambda-\nu),\mathcal{L}}.$$

Observe now that, since  $X \subseteq \mathbb{P}^n_{\mathbb{K}}$  is a closed subscheme,  $\mathcal{O}_X$  is a quotient of  $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^n_{\mathbb{K}}}$ . We thus obtain a surjective morphism of coherent sheaves

$$\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^n_{w}}(\nu)^p \to \mathcal{O}_X(\nu)^p \to \mathcal{E},$$

which by lemma (4.25) yields a chain of closed immersions

$$\mathfrak{Quot}_{\mathcal{E}/X/\mathbb{K}}^{\Phi,\mathcal{L}} \subseteq \mathfrak{Quot}_{\mathcal{O}_X(\nu)^p/X/\mathbb{K}}^{\Phi,\mathcal{L}} \subseteq \mathfrak{Quot}_{\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{K}}^n(\nu)^p/\mathbb{R}_{\mathbb{K}}^n/\mathbb{K}}^{\Phi,\mathcal{L}}.$$

Therefore, if we can construct  $\operatorname{Quot}_{\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^n_{\mathbb{K}}}^p/\mathbb{P}^n_{\mathbb{K}}/\mathbb{K}}^{\Phi(\lambda-\nu),\mathcal{L}}$ , we can take  $\operatorname{Quot}_{\mathcal{E}/X/\mathbb{K}}^{\Phi,\mathcal{L}}$  to be an appropriate closed subscheme of it.

 $<sup>{}^{5}</sup>A$  case where representability fails is given in chapter 5, section 5.1.5, example (8) of [FGI+06].

#### 4.3.1 Embedding into a Grassmannian

For simplicity of notation we set  $\mathcal{E} = \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^n_{\mathbb{K}}}^p$ . Recall that  $\pi : \mathbb{P}^n_{\mathbb{K}} \to \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{K}$  and  $\pi_T : \mathbb{P}^n_T \to T$  are the structural morphisms.

**Lemma 4.26.** The pushforward  $\pi_* \mathcal{E}(r)$  is a skyscraper sheaf with stalk  $\mathbb{K}^p \otimes \operatorname{Sym}^r \mathbb{K}^{n+1}$ .

Proof. Since Spec K consists of a single point,  $\pi_* \mathcal{E}(r)$  must be a skyscraper sheaf with stalk  $\pi_* \mathcal{E}(r)(\operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{K}) = \mathcal{E}(r)(\mathbb{P}^n_{\mathbb{K}}) = \Gamma(\mathbb{P}^n_{\mathbb{K}}, \mathcal{E}(r))$ . Since  $\mathcal{L} = \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^n_{\mathbb{K}}}(1)$  we see that  $\mathcal{E}(r) = \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^n_{\mathbb{K}}}^p \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^n_{\mathbb{K}}}} \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^n_{\mathbb{K}}}(r)$ , so  $\mathcal{I}_{\mathbb{K}}(r)(\operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{K}) = \Gamma(\mathbb{P}^n \cap_{\mathbb{P}^n} \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^n}(r)) = (\operatorname{Sum}^r \mathbb{K}^{n+1})^p \simeq \mathbb{K}^p \otimes \operatorname{Sum}^r \mathbb{K}^{n+1}$ 

$$\pi_*\mathcal{E}(r)(\operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{K}) = \Gamma(\mathbb{P}^n_{\mathbb{K}}, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^n_{\mathbb{K}}}(r)^p) = (\operatorname{Sym}^r \mathbb{K}^{n+1})^p \cong \mathbb{K}^p \otimes \operatorname{Sym}^r \mathbb{K}^{n+1}.$$

**Lemma 4.27.** The Hilbert polynomial of  $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^n_x}^p$  is the one determined by

$$r \mapsto p\binom{r+n}{n},$$

in particular it depends only on p and n.

*Proof.* For sufficiently large r we have

$$\chi(\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^n_{\mathbb{K}}}(r)^p) = p\chi(\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^n_{\mathbb{K}}}(r)) = p \dim_{\mathbb{K}} H^0(\mathbb{P}^n_{\mathbb{K}}, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^n_{\mathbb{K}}}(r)) =$$
$$= p \dim_{\mathbb{K}} \operatorname{Sym}^r \mathbb{K}^{n+1} = p \binom{r+n}{n}.$$

Let T be a noetherian<sup>6</sup> K-scheme. The main idea for the proof of the representability of  $\mathfrak{Quot}$  is building a natural transformation of the form

$$\begin{array}{ccc} \mathfrak{Quot}_{\mathcal{E}/\mathbb{P}_{\mathbb{K}}^{n}/\mathbb{K}}^{\Phi;\mathcal{L}}(T) & \longrightarrow & \mathfrak{Gr}(\Phi(r), \dim_{\mathbb{K}} \pi_{*}\mathcal{E}(r))(T) \\ [\mathcal{E}_{T} \twoheadrightarrow Q] & \longmapsto & [\pi_{T*}\mathcal{E}_{T}(r) \to \pi_{T*}Q(r)] \end{array}$$

for an appropriate integer r. We are identifying  $\pi_* \mathcal{E}(r)$  with the vector space  $\mathbb{K}^p \otimes \operatorname{Sym}^r \mathbb{K}^{n+1}$  as in the above lemma. We separate the proof into three steps:

Step 1. Find  $m_0 \in \mathbb{Z}$  such that if  $r \geq m_0$  then the above map is well defined and natural.

Step 2. Show that if  $r \ge m_0$  the map above is injective for all T.

Step 3. Show that if  $r \ge m_0$  the natural transformation above is a locally closed immersion.

Since the Grassmannian functor is representable (3.28), the last step shows that a locally closed subscheme of  $\operatorname{Gr}(\Phi(r), \dim_{\mathbb{K}} \pi_* \mathcal{E}(r))$  is a fine moduli space for  $\operatorname{\mathfrak{Quot}}_{\mathcal{O}_{p_{\mathcal{U}}}^p/\mathbb{P}_{\mathbb{K}}^n}^{\Phi, \mathcal{L}}$ .

*Proof.* (Step 1). We want to use the first claim of proposition (4.19) to show that  $\pi_{T*}\mathcal{E}_T(r)$  and  $\pi_{T*}Q(r)$  are vector bundles which behave well with respect to pullbacks for r greater then some positive integer  $m_0$ . So what we seek to show is that there exists a number  $m_0 > 0$  such that for all  $t \in T$ ,  $\mathcal{E}_T|_{\mathbb{P}^n_{k(t)}}$  and  $Q|_{\mathbb{P}^n_{k(t)}}$  are  $m_0$ -regular.

 $<sup>^{6}</sup>$ we can suppose T to be noetherian because all properties that we want to verify are local.

By the nature of proposition (4.19) and given that T is a K-scheme, the desired result for  $\mathcal{E}_T$ follows if we prove it for  $T = \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{K}$ . Since  $\operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{K}$  consists of only one point, there is only one fiber to consider for the restrictions of  $\mathcal{E}$ : the whole of  $\mathbb{P}^n_{\mathbb{K}}$ . Let m be the integer given by Mumford's theorem (4.18) applied to  $\mathcal{E}$ . The proposition shows that if  $r \geq m$  then  $\pi_* \mathcal{E}(r) = \mathcal{O}^p_{\mathbb{K}} \otimes \operatorname{Sym}^r \mathcal{O}^{n+1}_{\mathbb{K}}$ is a vector bundle which commutes with base change. Changing the basis to T yields the result we wanted on  $\pi_{T*} \mathcal{E}_T(r)$ .

Let  $q: \mathcal{E}_T \to Q$  be a quotient on  $\mathbb{P}_T^n$  with Hilbert polynomial  $\Phi$  on each fiber. If we denote by  $q_t$  its restriction to the fiber of  $t \in T$  and define  $\mathcal{K} = \ker q_t$ , we see that  $\mathcal{K}$  is a subsheaf of  $\mathcal{E}_{k(t)} = \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}_{k(t)}^n}^p$  whose Hilbert polynomial is determined<sup>7</sup> by  $\Phi$  and the Hilbert polynomial of  $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}_{k(t)}^n}^p$ , which by lemma (4.27) does not depend on t. By Mumford's theorem (4.18) there exists an integer  $m_0$  which depends only on n, p and  $\Phi$  such that  $\mathcal{K}$  is  $m_0$ -regular. Without loss of generality we may take  $m_0 \geq m$  by applying corollary (4.17). Because of lemma (4.15), we see that Q too is  $m_0$ -regular on each fiber. Since  $\mathcal{E}_T$  and Q are flat over T,  $\mathcal{K}$  is also flat over T by properties of short exact sequences.

Putting all of this together, we may apply proposition (4.19) to see that  $\pi_{T*}Q(r)$  and  $\pi_{T*}\mathcal{K}$ are vector bundles which behave well with pullbacks and that  $R^1\pi_{T*}\mathcal{K}(r) = 0$ . By looking at the long exact sequence of higher direct images induced by

$$0 \to \mathcal{K}(r) \to \mathcal{E}_T(r) \to Q(r) \to 0$$

together with the fact that  $R^1 \pi_{T*} \mathcal{K}(r) = 0$ , we see that  $\pi_{T*} \mathcal{E}_T(r) \to \pi_{T*} Q(r)$  is surjective. To conclude the proof we just need to observe that  $\pi_{T*} Q(r)$  is of fixed rank  $\Phi(r)$ . Note that  $\pi_{T*} Q(r)_t = Q_{|_{\mathbb{P}^n_{k(t)}}}(r)$ , which has Hilbert polynomial  $\Phi$ , so the desired result follows easily from the definition of Hilbert polynomial and statement (c) of lemma (4.16).

*Proof.* (Step 2). Let  $q : \mathcal{E}_T \to Q$  be a quotient sheaf which is flat over T and let  $\mathcal{K} = \ker q$ . Note that  $\mathcal{K}$  too is flat over T. If we choose  $m_0$  like in the proof of Step 1 we get the following commutative diagram

where the rows are exact and the vertical maps are surjective by the last statement in proposition (4.19). Let  $\alpha$  be given by the composition

$$\pi_T^* \pi_{T_*}(\mathcal{K}(r)) \to \mathcal{K}(r) \to \mathcal{E}_T(r).$$

Because of the surjectivity of the vertical map,  $\operatorname{Imm} \alpha = \mathcal{K}(r) \subseteq \mathcal{E}_T(r)$ , so  $Q(r) = \operatorname{coker} \alpha$ .

By commutativity,  $\alpha$  can also be written as the composition

$$\pi_T^* \pi_T (\mathcal{K}(r)) \to \pi_T^* \pi_T (\mathcal{E}_T(r)) \to \mathcal{E}_T(r)$$

and in this form it is clear that  $\pi_{T*}(\mathcal{E}_T(r)) \to \pi_{T*}(Q(r))$  uniquely determines  $\alpha$  and thus the cokernel  $\mathcal{E}_T(r) \to Q(r)$ . This construction behaves well with changing representatives for the quotients.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>This is a consequence of the additivity of the Euler characteristic on exact sequences.

*Proof.* (Step 3). Let  $h_{\tau} : h_T \to \operatorname{Gr}(\Phi(r), \pi_* \mathcal{E}(r))$  be the natural transformation which corresponds to the quotient  $[q : \pi_{T*} \mathcal{E}_T(r) \twoheadrightarrow V]$  via the Yoneda lemma (1.5) and let  $\mathcal{K} = \ker q$ . Let us consider the fiber product



We seek to show that  $\mathfrak{H}_q$  is representable by a locally closed subscheme of T in such a way as to make the upper horizontal map of the cartesian square the one induced by inclusion. Note that because of the injectivity of the bottom morphism of presheaves we have that the upper horizontal map is always injective.

Let us consider this version of the diagram from the previous proof

where  $Q = (\operatorname{coker}(\alpha))(-r)$ . Since the objects on the top row are pullbacks of vector bundles we see that  $\pi_{T*}\alpha$  corresponds to the inclusion  $\mathcal{K} \subseteq \pi_{T*}\mathcal{E}_T(r)$  up to identifying  $\pi_{T*}\pi_T^*\mathcal{K}$  and  $\mathcal{K}$ . It follows by the definition of  $\mathcal{K}$  then that  $\pi_{T*}Q(r)$  can be identified with V.

Observe that, if Q if flat over T with Hilbert polynomial  $\Phi$ , then  $[\mathcal{E}_T \to Q] \in \mathfrak{Quot}_{\mathcal{E}/\mathbb{P}^n_{\mathbb{K}}/\mathbb{K}}^{\Phi,\mathcal{L}}(T)$ . By Yoneda's lemma (1.5), this yields a natural transformation  $\eta$  which provides a lift of  $h_{\tau}$ , i.e.

$$\begin{array}{c} \mathfrak{Quot}_{\mathcal{E}/\mathbb{P}_{\mathbb{K}}^{n}/\mathbb{K}}^{\Phi,\mathcal{L}}\\ & \stackrel{\eta}{\longrightarrow} & \downarrow\\ h_{T} \xrightarrow{h_{\tau}} \mathfrak{Gr}(\Phi(r),\dim_{\mathbb{K}}\pi_{*}\mathcal{E}(r)) \end{array}$$

Since  $\mathfrak{H}_q \to h_T$  is injective and we have a morphism  $\eta : h_T \to \mathfrak{Quot}_{\mathcal{E}/\mathbb{P}_{\mathbb{K}}^n/\mathbb{K}}^{\Phi,\mathcal{L}}$  which commutes with the maps to the Grassmannian, it easy to check set-theoretically by evaluating the functors on an arbitrary scheme that  $\mathfrak{H}_q \to h_T$  is an isomorphism.

Conversely, if Q does not have Hilbert polynomial  $\Phi$  or is not flat over T we cannot have factorization by definition of the functor of quotients. We have thus identified  $\mathfrak{H}_q$  with the following subfunctor of  $h_T$ 

$$\begin{array}{cccc} \operatorname{Sch}/T & \longrightarrow & \operatorname{Set} \\ f: T' \to T & \longmapsto & \begin{cases} \{f\} & \text{if } Q_{T'} \text{ is flat over } T' \text{ and has Hilbert polynomial } \Phi \\ \emptyset & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

By the theorem on flattening stratifications (4.20) this shows that  $\mathfrak{H}_q \cong h_{T_{\Phi}}$  via an isomorphism which is compatible with the inclusion map.

# Bibliography

- [AK80] Allen B Altman and Steven L Kleiman. Compactifying the picard scheme. Advances in Mathematics, 35(1):50–112, 1980.
- [Alp24] Jarod Alper. Stacks and moduli. https://sites.math.washington.edu/~jarod/ moduli.pdf, 2024.
- [Bjö99] A. Björner. Oriented Matroids. EBSCO ebook academic collection. Cambridge University Press, 1999.
- [FGI<sup>+</sup>06] Barbara Fantechi, Lothar Göttsche, Luc Illusie, Steven Kleiman, Nitin Nitsure, and Angelo Vistoli. *Fundamental algebraic geometry*. Mathematical Surveys and Monographs. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, October 2006.
- [Gro61] Alexander Grothendieck. Techniques de construction et théorèmes d'existence en géométrie algébrique IV : les schémas de Hilbert. In Séminaire Bourbaki : années 1960/61, exposés 205-222, number 6 in Séminaire Bourbaki, pages 249–276. Société mathématique de France, 1961. talk:221.
- [Har77] Robin Hartshorne. Schemes, pages 60–200. Springer New York, New York, NY, 1977.
- [Liu06] Qing Liu. Algebraic geometry and arithmetic curves. Oxford Graduate Texts in Mathematics. Oxford University Press, London, England, June 2006.
- [MFK94] D. Mumford, J. Fogarty, and F. Kirwan. Geometric Invariant Theory. Ergebnisse der Mathematik und Ihrer Grenzgebiete, 3 Folge/A Series of Modern Surveys in Mathematics Series. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 1994.
- [Mum66] D. Mumford. Lectures on Curves on an Algebraic Surface. Annals of Mathematics Studies. Princeton University Press, 1966.
- [Rie57] B. Riemann. Theorie der abel'schen functionen. Journal f
  ür die reine und angewandte Mathematik, 54:115–155, 1857.
- [Sta24] The Stacks project authors. The stacks project. https://stacks.math.columbia.edu, 2024.
- [Tei39] Oswald Teichmüller. Extremale quasikonforme abbildungen und quadratische differentialen. Abh. Preuss. Akad. Wiss., 22:3–197, 1939.

# Ringraziamenti

Visto chi immagino leggerà questi ringraziamenti, scriverò quanto segue in italiano.

Questi tre anni sono stati una esperienza surreale, piena di emozioni e che mi ha aiutato a conoscere me stesso. Certo, il percorso universitario è stato (e non dubito che continuerà ad essere) molto impegnativo, ma il piacere estetico che ho provato nello scoprire i bizzarri mondi che si celano dietro equazioni e simboli, la soddisfazione che ho provato nel risolvere gli esercizi che ho incontrato durante gli studi e la riconoscenza che provo nei confronti di questo percorso per avermi aiutato a trovare più sicurezza in me stesso superano di gran lunga ciò che posso esprimente a parole.

Vorrei spendere qualche riga per ringraziare coloro che mi hanno sostenuto in questi anni:

Ringrazio i professori per avermi permesso di esplorare l'affascinante mondo della matematica. In particolare ringrazio il Prof.Talpo per avermi dato la possibilità di approfondire argomenti che inizialmente mi sembravano affascinanti ma ancora fuori dalla mia portata. Se questa tesi ha potuto trattare schemi, fibrati vettoriali, sottofuntori aperti e tanti altri argomenti, buona parte del merito risiede nelle dritte che mi ha dato il professore in questi mesi. Ho ancora molto da imparare, ma non dubito che questo documento sia solo il primo passo di un lungo viaggio nel mondo della geometria algebrica e della teoria delle categorie.

Ringrazio i miei genitori per avermi sempre sostenuto emotivamente, economicamente e logisticamente. Lo studio da pendolare è stato tosto, ma certamente molto più sopportabile grazie agli innumerevoli viaggi di ritorno dove ho improvvisato delle lezioni sugli argomenti del giorno. Mi rendo conto che spesso a casa mi perdo nello studio, ma sappiate che apprezzo moltissimo la vostra comprensione e il vostro continuo sostegno.

Ringrazio i miei amici, sia coloro che ho conosciuto a Pisa che chi mi accompagna da un numero di anni che non oso enunciare. Le conversazioni per messaggio, sul pullman, con un caffé in mano, a mensa, vicino un computer in aula 4, a pranzo in aula stud, di sera davanti al dipartimento, alla lavagna o prima di una qualche lezione sono state per me dei doni preziosi. Se sono riuscito a superare i momenti più tosti e a celebrare quelli più felici è stato anche grazie a voi. Non vedo l'ora di continuare ad essere nelle vostre mani.

Ringrazio tutti coloro che hanno letto gli appunti che ho scritto. Se ho superato gli esami relativi a quei documenti è anche grazie alle vostre domande e alle vostre correzioni. Spero di mantenere viva questa tradizione anche nei prossimi anni.